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Report from the Chair  

Professor David Maguire, Vice Chancellor, University of Greenwich 

The 2017/18 year has marked a period of transition and new challenges for UK education and research.  

HEFCE was dissolved and the Office for Students (OfS) and Research England (RE) launched in its 

place, bringing new regulatory and funding requirements for our members and new funders for Jisc.  

In further education, the area review process is now largely complete and a number of colleges have 

merged as a result. A new standards-based approach and funding model for apprenticeships has 

brought fresh challenges for the sector and provisional figures show the numbers participating in adult 

education continue to fall. Brexit continues to cast uncertainty across UK education and research, not 

least of all in terms of staffing and funding, whilst GDPR brings a new emphasis on data security to our 

members. 

Amongst these changes, the rise of increasingly sophisticated “Education 4.0” technologies is set to 

usher in big transformations for Higher and Further education. Developments in artificial intelligence, 

robotics, big data, the internet of things and mixed reality are starting to transform the way teaching and 

research is done. Jisc is at the forefront of this agenda. We are helping our universities and colleges 

understand and exploit the opportunities these technologies present to make the UK the most digitally 

advanced education and research nation in the world.  

To that end, we have continued an ambitious programme of capacity and resilience upgrades to the 

Janet Network to ensure it continues to meet user demand without disruption to their organisational 

missions. This includes the use of new 400 Gbit/s technology – a world-first amongst national research 

and education networks. We have also doubled the capacity of our connection to GÉANT, the European 

network that provides worldwide connectivity. These developments will create a unified architecture 

across the network, allowing us to deliver services more quickly and flexibly, while scaling bandwidth 

more efficiently. 

We have commissioned significant increases to the capacity and capabilities of the technologies we 

deploy to protect universities and colleges from cyber-attack, including in-house penetration testing and 

further investment in systems to protect from threats such as distributed denial of service (DDoS) 

attacks.  

Shared service development continues to be a key focus. Following a successful pilot phase, we have 

launched our national Learning Analytics service – the first of its kind anywhere in the world. We will 

soon launch our Research Data Shared Service (RDSS), enabling members to provide a secure home 

for the research data underpinning their research findings. This will help to bolster the reputation of UK 

research on the world stage and support the Open Science agenda. We have also focused on reaching 

agreements with journal publishers that give the best value for our members while being oriented to a 

transformation to Open Access.  

In our biggest student digital experience survey to date, Universities Minister, Sam Gyimah MP, called 

on educators to make the most of the new intelligence gathered from some 32,000 respondents, to 

ensure UK students have the best possible digital experience, fit for the workforce demands of Industry 

4.0. 
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In the devolved nations, we have worked with the Welsh Government to develop a digital learning 

strategy for FE and Skills across Wales. All eight of its regulated higher education institutions have also 

signed up to our Learning Analytics Cymru service. In Scotland, FE Colleges have re-confirmed their 

support for Jisc and in Northern Ireland, our Digital Leadership Programme was oversubscribed and 

attended by almost all institutions. 

Earlier this year the DfE confirmed its intention to change how it funds Jisc to support further education 

colleges in England. In order to continue delivering a world-class digital offer to colleges and further 

education providers in England, the DfE requested that we introduce an element of subscription for our 

services from August 2019. We are committed to ensuring that the core subscription for colleges offers 

great value for money – and is as relevant, appealing and affordable as possible.  

Higher education members across the UK have paid a membership subscription to Jisc since 2012.  As 

a result of identifying a potentially more favourable way of recovering the VAT on the subscription 

service, we have been able to lower subscription costs in 2018-19 for many of our members. 

2017-18 saw the first full year of operation of our revised ‘account’ management function. Their task is 

no mean feat, representing the full Jisc portfolio to our members, in addition to representing the 'voice' of 

our members back into Jisc. Recent leadership surveys attest to our success in raising satisfaction levels 

and we know our FE members in particular are noticing a difference.  

Ultimately, Jisc’s customers, members and users in universities, colleges, government and charities 

need a dedicated collaborator who can develop and deliver at scale and help deliver their strategic aims.  

The 2018/19 year looks set to be one of continued transition for education and research. We are working 

closely with members to understand their challenges and concerns. Crucially, much of what our 

members need to make UK education and research even better aligns with our strategic priorities and 

we are already making inroads in many of the areas that are important to their success. 

2018 saw Jisc celebrate its 25th anniversary. This was an opportunity to look back at the very many 

significant Jisc achievements over that last quarter of a century, and to look forward to the exciting 

prospects ahead.  On behalf of the Board I would like to thank our staff, members and stakeholders for 

their continued support and encouragement in enabling Jisc to continue to power the UK’s higher and 

further education’s teaching, learning and research and to be at the centre of its digital transformation in 

the exciting years ahead. 

 

Professor David Maguire  

    7 December 2018 
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Strategic Report 
The Trustees present their strategic report for the year ended 31 July 2018. 

What is Jisc? 
As a not for profit organisation, Jisc provides a much-valued digital infrastructure to UK education and 

research through the secure National Research and Education Network (Janet) and associated 

technology services, through Jisc Collections and other library activities, and through key shared 

services and tools to support research, learning, teaching and the student experience and the 

management of universities and colleges.   

Jisc spans network services, content and data services, with learner analytics and the learner records 

warehouse our flagship service in the data arena. Thought leadership is provided in key areas such as 

cyber security, analytics, online learning, artificial intelligence, digital capabilities and open science, 

helping to inform policy and drive innovation in the sectors and keep our systems and data secure.    

Our purpose and vision 

Our vision is for the UK to be the most digitally advanced lifelong education and research nation in the 

world. 

 

Our ambition of what it really means for the UK to be digitally advanced is centred on a community 

where everyone can use the network with absolute confidence that they are safe, secure and protected. 

A community where: 

 

• all learners and students have technology at the heart of their learning experience, where they 

become digitally equipped for the rest of their lives 

• lecturers use technology to help them impart wisdom and not just knowledge 

• universities and colleges are able to use the insights that technology provides to support each 

and every learner and student so that they can succeed, wherever they may be in the world 

• researchers can create, curate, share, preserve and ensure future access to world class research 

• the UK is at the centre of supra-national collaboration and is a global leader in education and 

research. 

 

To achieve this vision our aim is that each day we will continue both to power the UK’s higher and further 

education’s teaching, learning and research and inspire its digital transformation.  We will do this by: 
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Strategy  
Our strategic objectives are as follows: 

 

Our strategy is being delivered by:  

i. developing increasing familiarity with our members so they value and trust us;  

ii. deeply embedding ourselves into our sector through the provision of trusted solutions that 

universities and colleges depend on; and  

Helping individuals in our core 
UK user communities to be 
the most digitally capable, 
aware and focused in the 

world, we will:

•Sustain our focus on 
librarians, researchers, 
lecturers, and CIOs

•Support students to fulfil their 
potential 

•Support other professional 
service functions wherever 
possible 

•Invest even more in leading 
edge developments that 
transform UK HE, FE and 
research

Operating with dedication to 
our members and 

stakeholders, we will:

•Continue to deliver the best 
infrastructure and student 
experience in the world, day 
in day out

•Deliver strong and 
sustainable institution-level 
service offerings 

•Support legitimate tertiary 
education providers, 
irrespective of ownership, 
only differentiating by price 
based on Government 
subsidy

Supporting UK-wide and 
national agendas to:

•Influence education, research 
and networking policies for 
public good

•Deliver services to the public 
sector, private research 
sector and the tech 
translation space which are 
synergistic with our core 
services

•Support the edtech market, 
realising our role as the UK’s 
national EdTech provider

Continue to develop the Janet network, the foremost national and research 
education network in the world

Focus our products on the areas that make the most difference to 
students, teachers and researchers in HE, FE and research

Improve levels of member, government and stakeholder satisfaction 
and establish Jisc as a member organisation of purpose and value

Continue to build a strong financially sustainable position

Operate to high standards of efficiency and effectiveness with motivated, 
passionate staff
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iii. seeking to become independently financially stable based on strong performance so we can build 

new capabilities that fulfil our core purpose.  

We have developed five sector strategies to ensure we are driving towards delivery. These are 

presented in the table below in terms of a technology stack with Jisc digital infrastructure (built upon the 

Janet network) as the basis on which everything else is delivered. The sector strategies contribute to all 

our strategic objectives above.  

We’ve launched an initiative to take a leadership role for our sectors on Education 4.0 – the impact of 

industrial revolution 4.0 on the way we teach and research. We’ll be working to update our sector 

strategies to embed this activity through all we do. 

Research and innovation 

• Transforming e-infrastructure  
with global reach linking 
computation, data and people 

• Open science: putting open 
research data, open access, 
and active research into 
practice 

• Data driven research: text and 
data mining, AI and new 
forms of data 

• Research analytics for 
decision support and research 
impact 

• Digital skills for researchers  

• Understanding the digital 
research experience 

Learning, teaching and 

the student experience 

• Learning analytics 

• Understanding the digital 
student experience 

• Intelligent campus 

• Next generation learning 
environments, mixed 
reality, artificial 
intelligence 

• Digital skills and 
capabilities 

• Incubation and uptake of 
Edtech 

FE and skills  

• Advice, guidance, 
analytics and content to 
improve learning quality 

• Supporting sector 
transformation to 
improve 
efficiency/effectiveness 
including qualification 
reform 

• Digital skills and 
capabilities 

• Management/delivery of 
work-based learning 

Library services strategy • Transformed discovery services 

• Open access services  

• Sector deals and licensing frameworks for digital content 

• Analytics: evidence-based collections decision making 

• Re-imagining the library space/intelligent campus 

Technology services 

strategy 

• Janet network and cyber security 

• Datacentres and managed cloud services 

• Trust and identity 

• Research support/e-infrastructure 

• Skills and training  

Further information about how we will continue to deliver our strategy can be found in the Key priorities 

2018-19 on page 15. 
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Activities and achievements 2017-18 
 

Our strategy and the key activities through which we deliver it are supported by Jisc (the charity) and its 

subsidiary companies (Jisc Services Limited, Jisc Commercial Limited and Jisc Liberate Managed 

Services Limited) working together across the Group structure. Further information on the Jisc Group 

structure can be found in the Corporate structure section on page 20.   

The table below gives some examples of activity in 2017-18 that has delivered against our strategic 

objectives:  

 

 

Continue to 
develop the Janet 
network, the 
foremost national 
and research 
education network 
in the world

We completed the £15m project to upgrade the Janet backbone with 400Gbps 
optical channels installed in preparation for 600Gbps IP service on time, with no 
member disruption, making it the ‘largest’ NREN (National Research and 
Education Network) in the world

Our Janet re-architecting will give our members a more cost effective, flexible 
and agile set of connectivity services; work is underway to move the first 
regions across

We provided penetration testing, a leading feature of our new security 
operations centre, which detects and defends against thousands of attacks 
every year on the Janet Network. 49 tests took place this year, with a further 48 
for FE and 49 for HE in the pipeline.

We launched the cyber security portal which reassures members they are 
protected from cyber attacks

Focus our 
products on the 
areas that make 
the most difference 
to students, 
teachers and 
researchers in HE, 
FE and Research

Our learning analytics service moved to production. 30 individual HEIs/FEIs, 
including all 8 HEIs in Wales are signed up

Our digital student tracker had 65,000 responses and is now the UK's largest 
non-statutory student survey

Members from over 80 HEIs have been part of our Analytics labs work, 
contributing to 20 new data visualisation areas

76 institutional library catalogues are on Jisc’s National Bibliographic 
knowledgebase (NBK), improving collaboration and access.  A further 66 are in 
the pipeline. 

Our new partnership with Airbus gives students access to next generation 
geospatial data services and has saved £1m per annum in service costs for our 
members

We launched our new Health and Social Care training service, with 90 
innovative learning resources  We've had 112 UK Colleges subscribe to the 
free beta service 

HE sector spend on digital content through Jisc increased from 45% to 48% of 
total sector spend on digital content this year, generating £100m p.a. of savings 
to members overall
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Improve levels of 
member, 
government and 
stakeholder 
satisfaction and 
establish Jisc as a 
member 
organisation of 
purpose and value

Member views and needs are increasingly at the heart of how we work. The Net 
Promoter Score increased by 20 points in HE and by 25 points in FE, with 
customer satisfaction at 86% in HE and 80% in FE

We’re building and sustaining successful relationships with our members to 
realise our shared vision:

- The ‘Digital 2030’ project, developed from the ground up is resulting in every   
post-16 learning provider in Wales working towards a consistent vision of their 
digital future

- The University of Leicester has adopted Jisc’s Digital Capabilities model to 
support them in making their institution digital by default

EdTech is firmly up the political agenda because our public affairs team is 
having a notable impact, representing the sector at critical meetings and 
through reports and briefings

We engaged with nearly 10,000 members and other stakeholders at 198 of our 
events across the UK

We’ve successfully demonstrated how Jisc can support the priorities of our 
funders, guarantors and sector stakeholder groups:

- A recent value study showed how Jisc has saved Cardiff University £776,000 
on costs per annum in comparison to other service providers. 

- For Forth Valley College, we have identified savings and cost avoidance of 
£209,173 against the cost of £63,202 for Jisc.  A similar study at Strode College 
showed Jisc saves them £133,400 of total costs per year for £22,500 of cost 
(£6,000 from Strode and c£16,500 from DfE)

Continue to build a 
strong financially 
sustainable 
position

We achieved 3% real savings on total net recurrent costs compared with 
2017/18 after inflation

We restructured Jisc Commercial Limited and transformed it into a profit-making 
enterprise, from a £0.7m loss in 2016/17 to a £0.3m profit this year.  The 
company’s debt to the rest of the Jisc group reduced by £0.6m this year, 
beating the target reduction of £0.5m

Effective procurement across the whole Group, saved £2m across the business 
without loss of quality
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A number of other key activities outside these areas have been a focus of attention in 2017-18. In April 

2018, the Office for Students and Research England took over from the Higher Education Funding 

Council for England (HEFCE) in providing funding to Jisc to support higher education in England.  We 

have been working hard to make sure that we are providing information and data to demonstrate to our 

new funders how we can support their priorities.  Our learning, teaching and the student experience 

strategy and the research and innovation strategy establish our plans in these areas.  

Following an announcement from the Department for Education (England) (DfE) that FE colleges would 

need to pay a subscription for Jisc services from 1 August 2019, we're working hard in a range of areas 

to highlight all that we offer our FE members. We have focussed on meeting colleges across the UK, to 

listen to what they have to say and to provide as much information as they need to support a decision to 

subscribe to Jisc in 2019/20 and beyond.  The introduction of a further cost on the sector was 

unwelcome but most colleges see the value that Jisc brings and see staying with us as the best option.  

We have comprehensive information on our website for any college to access (see 

https://www.jisc.ac.uk/further-education-and-skills) as well as a dedicated page which pulls together all 

the services, guidance and training courses we offer to help busy teaching practitioners in the FE and 

skills sector to provide a quality teaching experience.  We have been collecting indications of intent 

signed by our FE members so that we know they're on board with the likely costs from 2019/20.  

 

  

Operate to high 
standards of 
efficiency and 
effectiveness with 
motivated, 
passionate staff

Jisc’s delivery of General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR) resources and 
training was extremely well received by the Information Commissioners Office 
(ICO), members, peers and colleagues

We’re rapidly developing prototype products that address members' needs for 
them to test and refine, as part of a new lean start-up approach. Data and 
analytics and cyber security are already benefitting from applying these 
principles as we’re working faster, responding to members’ needs successfully

We’re supporting development and improvement across Jisc. We transitioned to 
ISO9001 2015 for quality management; rolled out organisation-wide information 
security policies and delivered commercial and legal awareness training. We 
completed our people plan’s first year of activities, including developing our 
managers skills, introducing a new Human Resources system and launching a 
learning platform, Fuse

Our account managers and service managers can access accurate and detailed 
pricing information for all members and customers thanks to our new price book

Alongside this, our new Jisc service desk provides a single, easy way for our 
members to receive support with products and services

Colleagues across Jisc are feeling more informed, involved and better 
connected with our members and our purpose, thanks to our internal 
communications work, including our inaugural all-staff conference, ever-
improving intranet, and all-hands events

https://www.jisc.ac.uk/further-education-and-skills
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Stakeholder engagement 

 
Engaging with our wide range of stakeholders remains one of our top priorities.  In 2017-18 we hosted 

our annual Stakeholder Forum where we were able to listen to what our stakeholders are telling us they 

want and need from us. We delivered a range of events, from large-scale or group events such as 

Digifest, Networkshop, the Jisc/CNI (Coalition for Networked Information) leaders conference and the 

Connect More series of events, to specialist groups convened to inform activity in certain areas, to 

individual visits by senior managers and account managers within our member organisations.  More than 

ever, we’re holding regional events to make sure that all our members have the opportunity to 

participate, and we plan to do even more in 2018-19. 

We also have a programme of work to engage with our funders, guarantors and sector stakeholder 

groups.  Alongside a more formal series of meetings that we hold with our funders and guarantors, our 

senior leaders also meet with key individuals in government, sector agencies, partner organisations and 

representative groups to deepen the relationships in place and position Jisc to be able to understand and 

respond to stakeholder needs. 

A significant stakeholder group is our staff, and more information about the communication mechanisms 

and methods for gathering employee views can be found in the workforce engagement information within 

the internal organisation and policies section on page 33 of this report. 

Merger discussions 
An important area of work in 2017-18 has been discussions regarding potential mergers with other 

sector charities.   

We have been in discussion with Eduserv (https://www.eduserv.org.uk/), a charitable company 

operating to provide similar products within similar and aligned markets.  Following full due diligence 

undertaken by KPMG, the Jisc and Eduserv Boards have agreed to merge during 2018-19.  The Charity 

Commission have been advised of our intentions and their permission received to amend our charitable 

objects to deliver to a wider group of beneficiaries.   

The board is also considering a second merger to build on our activities to support the student 

experience.   

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

https://www.eduserv.org.uk/


Jisc Trustees’ Report and Financial Statements 

Year ended 31 July 2018  

Jisc Trustees’ Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 July 2018                                                                        12 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

Co-design 

Co-design is our collaborative innovation model. Steered by our members' priorities, it is designed to 

exploit new opportunities and address pressing issues in higher and further education through 

technology.  We’re working in the following areas: 

• Digital capabilities - We are asking how we can ensure staff have the skills required to use 

digital technology to deliver a compelling student experience and to maximise the return on 

investment in expensive technology 

• Analytics – We are exploring new services that will help universities and colleges improve 

student attainment and retention using learning analytics and that explore new uses of 

analytics to improve organisational planning 

• Research data - We are developing a shared service that will make it easier for universities to 

ensure the data produced during research is managed in compliance with funder policies. 

We’ve shared our approach through a co-design playbook (http://repository.jisc.ac.uk/6658/1/co-

design-playbook-2017.pdf), to inspire others to use a similar approach in their own organisations. 

We have visions for 2020 and 2030 that focus on the use of digital technology in education and 

research. These visions (for further education and skills; higher education learning and teaching; and 

Charitable purpose and public benefit 

Jisc is a registered charity and as such, its purposes must be exclusively charitable.  A charitable 

purpose is a purpose which comes within the descriptions listed in the Charities Act 2011 and 

which is for the public benefit.  The Charity Commission says that to advance education means to 

“promote, sustain and increase individual and collective knowledge and understanding of study, 

skills and expertise” and that the types of charity capable of advancing education include 

“organisations supporting the work of educational establishments”.   

Jisc’s charitable objectives are the advancement of education for the public benefit through the 

provision of services to the Education, Learning and Research Community in the United Kingdom 

and elsewhere.  In anticipation of the merger with Eduserv, an amendment to our Articles of 

Association to ensure that our objects encompass all charitable activity of the merged 

organisation has been approved by the Charity Commission.  Our articles of association can be 

found at https://www.jisc.ac.uk/about/corporate/company-and-charity-details. 

We support the higher education and further education and skills sectors.  How we do this is 

explained through this report. 

In everything they do, Jisc’s trustees are aware of the public benefit requirements of Jisc’s 

charitable status, including the Charity Commission’s guidance on public benefit. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

http://repository.jisc.ac.uk/6658/1/co-design-playbook-2017.pdf
http://repository.jisc.ac.uk/6658/1/co-design-playbook-2017.pdf
https://www.jisc.ac.uk/about/corporate/company-and-charity-details
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research – each available at https://www.jisc.ac.uk/rd/how-we-innovate/visions) have been used to 

select and prioritise our R&D work.  

The launch of our Education 4.0 initiative will influence these visions and will provide a focus for our co-

design work in the future. 

Projects 

Five ideas emerged from our co-design consultations with members and other stakeholders and we are 

focussing on projects around intelligent campus, digital apprenticeships, research skills, next generation 

learning environments and next generation research environments.  

Financial Performance and Strategy 
This report and the accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Financial 

Reporting Standard 102 (FRS 102) and the Charities SORP. 

Income and Expenditure  

Income for the year was £145.1m (2017: £133.0m), an increase of £12.1m. This comprises £121.2m 

and £23.9m of unrestricted funds and restricted funds respectively (2017: £106.2m and £26.8m 

respectively).  The year-on-year increase in income being due to an increase in income from charitable 

activities of £13.1m (licensing income made up for £11.6m of this increase), and trading income of 

£0.9m, offset by a reduction in grant income of £1.7m and a reduction in investment income of £0.2m. 

Income of £75.2m (2017: £76.9m) was core funding received from the United Kingdom funding bodies 

for higher and further education. Income from charitable activities, which includes funding that flows 

through from Jisc into Jisc Services Limited, was £56.9m (2017: £43.7m). Income from other trading 

activities was £12.7m (2017: £11.8m). Investment income was £0.4m (2017: £0.6m). 

Expenditure for the year was £146.2m (2017: £133.0m), an increase of £13.2m, this was principally due 

to higher licensing costs of £11.7m. 

Of the total £146.2m expenditure, £141.9m (2017: £128.7m) was used on charitable activities, a further 

breakdown is available in note 8 (page 62). 

In compliance with the Charities SORP, a transfer between restricted and unrestricted funds to account 

for assets purchased in year using those funds has been shown separately in the Statement of Financial 

Activities (page 50). This amounts to £9.0m (2017: £10.7m).   

Importantly, the surplus on unrestricted activities after this transfer is £0.5m (2017: £1.7m). This is in line 

with management’s expectations. 

There was reduction in the restricted funds of £1.6m due to expenditure being incurred on projects for 

which funds had been previously received. 

  

https://www.jisc.ac.uk/rd/how-we-innovate/visions
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Balance Sheet 
 

Jisc has maintained a robust balance sheet, with total funds of £100.7m (2017: £101.8m) and a cash 

balance of £83.8m (2017: £86.9m) at 31 July 2018. 

The funds of £100.7m comprised £84.8m of unrestricted funds (2017: £84.2m) and £16.0m of restricted 

funds (2017: £17.6m). Of the unrestricted funds, £36.3m is within designated funds, such as grant 

funded assets. The remaining £48.5m can be deemed as general unrestricted funds. 

Restricted Funds 

Jisc has consolidated restricted funds of £16.0m (2017: £17.6m). These funds, which are subject to 

special terms specified by the grantors can only be used for the purpose to which they are given and the 

trustees fully intend to utilise these funds. They do not form part of Jisc’s reserves available for day to 

day use. Jisc sets aside cash to cover these funds. A full breakdown is provided in note 22 (page 75). 

Unrestricted funds 

The starting point for assessing the amount of reserves held by any charity, including Jisc, is normally 

the amount of unrestricted funds held. Part of the unrestricted funds of a charity, however, may not 

always be readily available for spending. These are: 

• Tangible assets: the Charities SORP specifically allows funds held against grant-funded 

tangible fixed assets for charity use to be excluded from general unrestricted reserves. This 

recognises that certain assets will be used operationally and their disposal may adversely 

impact on a charity's ability to deliver its aims. At 31 July 2018 these amounted to £25.9m 

(2017: £27.2m). 

• Programme-related investments (paid prepayments) where a charity makes 

programme-related investments solely to further its charitable purposes, then such 

investments can be excluded from unrestricted reserves. At 31 July 2018 these 

amounted to £5.3m (2017: £4.9m) 

• Designated funds: where unrestricted funds are earmarked or designated for essential future 

spending, for example, to fund a project that could not be met from future income alone they 

can be excluded from general unrestricted reserves. For Jisc on a consolidated basis, at 31 

July 2018, these elements amounted to pension contributions of £4.2m (2017: £4.5m) and a 

restructuring fund of £0.9m (2017: £0.9m). 

The balance of Jisc’s unrestricted funds is £48.5m: this is Jisc’s “general unrestricted” funds. This is 

broken down between a short-term self-funding buffer of four months required to cover operations in the 

event that normal funding receipts were delayed which equates to £43.2m, and the balance of £5.3m, 

which represents funds being used on Jisc’s priority projects.  A full breakdown is available in note 23 

(page 76). 

A provision of £6.1m (2017: £5.8m) was recognised on the group’s balance sheet. This provision 

represents an estimate of Jisc’s share of the total USS pension deficit described below in line with the 

USS guidance, as per Jisc’s contractual obligation. There remains an additional designated unrestricted 
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reserve at 31 July 2018 of £4.2m (2017: £4.5m) in relation to additional costs believed to be needed for 

future USS deficit contribution plans. 

The consolidated unrestricted reserve increase in the year of £0.5m is 0.4% of unrestricted income. 

Cash 

The Group’s cash position for 31 July 2018 was £67.8m, excluding restricted funds. The need for £43.2m 

of this is made up of the 4 months cover as discussed above. 

2018-19 Budget 

A Budget has been approved by the Board for Jisc for the 2018-19 year. 

An overall surplus of £1.2m is predicted for 2018-19. This has two major components. Expenditure 

exceeding income by £1.4m on restricted activities is as a consequence of Jisc spending against 

previously recognised income. A £2.6m surplus on unrestricted funds reflects expected net cost savings 

across Jisc. 

Financial Forecast 

A financial forecast has been prepared that also looks ahead to 2020-21. The forecast is part of Jisc’s 

strategic response to a range of future scenarios. Jisc will be working to develop further medium-term 

projections and models. The financial forecast has, in addition to the secured savings to date, included 

further savings and efficiencies.  

Plans for future periods and key performance indicators 
Our strategy for 2017-20 continues to guide our activities and focus our resources.  In developing our 

priorities for 2018-19, we have built on the significant progress made against our strategy in 2017-18 and 

identified tangible indicators to demonstrate our progress.   

We have streamlined our strategic reporting to enhance the progress reporting against our range of 

initiatives, key performance indicators and business as usual activities. 

Key priorities 2018-19 

What we will do   

Our priorities across our 5 strategic objectives (see Strategy section on page 6) are summarised in the 

table below.  We have introduced rolling 3-year targets as well as specific targets for 2018-19 to help 

ensure that we are concentrating on the actions that will achieve our long-term strategic objectives. 

 

Continue to 

develop the Janet 

network, the 

foremost national 

and research 

We will: 

• strive for efficiency in the Janet network through our re-architecting 

programme 

• invest in the Janet network to ensure it remains fit for purpose and in cyber 

security to protect the network infrastructure 
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education network 

in the world 

• ensure that Janet continues to be an essential component in UKRI’s e-

infrastructure roadmap and that Janet continues to evolve to support the 

requirements of data intensive research 

• increase awareness and appreciation of the value and opportunity the 

Janet network brings for members, the economy and society 

Focus our products 

on the areas that 

make the most 

difference to 

students, teachers 

and researchers in 

HE, FE and 

Research  

 

 

 

 

Security 

• We will increasingly invest in security services to support and protect our 

members 

• We will continue to evolve access and identity management services to 

meet the requirements of the sectors we serve and to anticipate future 

directions and needs  

Cloud services 

• We will provide: strategic consultancy; professional services; cloud 

platforms; partnerships and managed services; to meet the priorities of our 

members around advice, guidance and cloud services 

• We will support our members with colocation and hosting of research 

computing, high performance computing and enterprise computing in the 

Jisc shared datacentres 

Library services 

• We will continue to negotiate sector deals and licensing frameworks for 

digital content and to challenge existing publishing models; supporting 

evidence-based collections decision making 

• We will transform digital content discovery services and will look to re-

imagine the library space/intelligent campus 

Research and innovation 

• We will work with key partners to transform e-infrastructure for UK 

research: a Research Commons with global reach linking computation, 

data and people 

• We will continue to develop products aimed at enhancing support for the 

research process and developing open science services: putting open 

research data, open access and active research into practice 

• We will foster data-driven research: text and data mining, artificial 

intelligence and new forms of data 

Learning, teaching and the student experience 

• We will work in partnership and continue to develop products aimed at 

improving the student experience and supporting the uptake of Edtech, 

including digital skills and capabilities 

• We will explore next generation learning environments, mixed reality and 

artificial intelligence and provide a national learner analytics service and 

data warehouse, demonstrating how this supports retention and 

attainment  

• We will deliver intelligent campus services and work with partners to 

combine data sources to develop further business intelligence for our 

members 
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Further education and skills 

• We will support sector transformation to improve quality and improve 

efficiency/effectiveness including qualification reform 

• We will provide advice, guidance, digital skills/capabilities, analytics and 

content to improve quality 

• We will develop services to support work-based learning 

Improve levels of 

member, 

government and 

stakeholder 

satisfaction, and 

establish Jisc as a 

member 

organisation of 

purpose and value  

We will:  

• engage with our members on their current and future needs and measure 

satisfaction 

• demonstrate value for money and transparency to our members 

• provide thought leadership on behalf of the sector and seek to influence 

relevant policy development across the UK 

• engage with key bodies internationally to ensure the UK is influencing 

globally 

Continue to build a 

strong, financially 

sustainable, 

position 

We will: 

• aim to reduce our operating costs year on year 

• grow products and services that payback, in addition to those that are part 

of our core mission  

• focus on the innovative culture in the organisation to make a step change 

in the level of creative ideas for new services  

• broaden the markets we serve, especially public sector and related sectors 

to generate profit towards our sustainability 

Operate to high 

standards of 

efficiency and 

effectiveness with 

motivated 

passionate staff 

We will:  

• aim to be the best at what we do and to continually improve  

• develop our people to ensure we have the skills needed for the future 

• invest in our own IT infrastructure and internal IT systems  

• expand our approach to quality and security standards 

• enhance our product lifecycle management approach identifying gaps and 

opportunities 

• invest in new ways of running Jisc to transform the way we deliver 

services to members and staff and drive for efficiency 

 

Principal risks and uncertainties 
Our 2018-19 strategic priorities continue the work from 2017-18 to strengthen Jisc to deal with major 

changes in the world in which we operate so that we can continue to serve our members in the long 

term.  



Jisc Trustees’ Report and Financial Statements 

Year ended 31 July 2018  

Jisc Trustees’ Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 July 2018                                                                        18 

 

Strategic risk register 

A review of the current strategic risk register has been undertaken to ensure that it appropriately reflects 

our strategic objectives.  A separate risk register has been created for the Eduserv merger and a further 

risk register will be created for a second merger should this proceed. 

A summary of key risks to meeting our strategic objectives and mitigating actions is shown in the table 

below:   

 

Strategic objectives Risk Future key mitigations 

1. Continue to develop the 

Janet network 

Members and customers seek network 

provision elsewhere 

Ensure that the value of our network and 

cybersecurity services are sufficiently 

expressed 

Implement Janet architectural changes 

2. Focus our products on 

the areas that make the 

most difference to 

students, teachers and 

researchers in HE, FE 

and research 

The services offered by Jisc do not meet 

the immediate and future needs of 

members 

Implementation of our five sector strategies 

(Research and innovation, Learning, teaching 

and student experience, FE and skills, Library 

services, technology services) 

 

Engage with our members through multiple 

routes to gather intelligence about sector 

needs  

3. Improve levels of 

member, government 

and stakeholder 

satisfaction, and 

establish Jisc as a 

member organisation of 

purpose and value 

Jisc fails to communicate its membership 

offer and value proposition effectively 

 

Jisc’s role and funding is not valued 

sufficiently to retain core funding through 

the Comprehensive Spending Review in 

2018/19 

Ensure we have ongoing, meaningful 

conversations with members and act on 

member feedback 

 

Continue to build key relationships with our 

funders, ensuring that their policy and 

objectives are understood and how we 

support these is demonstrated 

 

Approved and authorised for issue on behalf of the Board by: 

 

Professor David Maguire, Jisc Chair 

    7 December 2018 
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Trustees’ Report  
The trustees are pleased to present their report and audited consolidated financial statements for the 

year ended 31 July 2018. 

Legal and administrative information 
Jisc is a company limited by guarantee (CLG) and a charity registered in England and Wales1. We 

operate under bespoke Articles of Association.  

Our constitution allows for two classes of membership. One class comprises Representative Members, 

which includes the original members and guarantors - the Association of Colleges, GuildHE and 

Universities UK.  Each of these Representative Members holds 30% of the voting rights. The other class 

of membership comprises Institutional Members, who together hold 10% of the voting rights. This class 

of membership is limited to UK education, learning and research providers for which Jisc receives central 

funding from the UK higher and further education funding bodies. A full list of our members can be found 

in the Register of Members at https://www.jisc.ac.uk/about/institutional-membership. 

Registered and principal office address 

One Castlepark 

Tower Hill 

Bristol  

BS2 0JA 

Company registration number: 05747339 

Charity registration number: 1149740 

Registered in England and Wales 

Company Secretary: Ms Alice Colban 

Independent Auditors 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 

Savannah House 

3 Ocean Way 

Southampton 

SO14 3TJ 

Bankers 

Royal London  

55 Gracechurch Street 

London EC3V 0RL 

                                                                    

1 In the 2016-17 Trustees’ Report and Financial Statements, we indicated that we were seeking to register with the 

Office of the Scottish Charity Regulator (OSCR) in order to operate as a charity in Scotland. In agreement with 

OSCR, that application is on hold pending the merger with Eduserv and any other mergers that may be agreed. 

 

https://www.jisc.ac.uk/about/institutional-membership
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Solicitors 

DAC Beachcroft  Veale Wasbrough Vizards 

100 Fetter Lane  Orchard Court 

London    Orchard Lane 

EC4A 1BN   Bristol 

    BS1 5WS    

Corporate structure 
Jisc is a holding company, with two wholly owned subsidiary companies – Jisc Commercial Limited and 

Jisc Services Limited and a majority owned subsidiary company – Jisc Liberate Managed Services 

Limited (incorporated on 15 January 2018). Jisc also holds 36.8% of equity share in Placer Limited 

(further information can be found at http://www.placer.co.uk/).  

All four companies in the Jisc Group are incorporated in England and Wales.  Separate annual reports 

and financial statements are prepared for each company in the Group.  

 

The Jisc Board has overall strategic oversight of the Jisc Group.  All four companies in the Group 

operate under defined Articles of Association. The Jisc Articles are available from the Jisc website at 

http://www.jisc.ac.uk/about/corporate/company-and-charity-details.  

  

http://www.placer.co.uk/
http://www.jisc.ac.uk/about/corporate/company-and-charity-details
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Funding model 
We receive core funding from the funding bodies responsible for HE and FE across the UK.  These are: 

• Office for Students (OfS) 2  

• Research England  

• Department for Education (England) (DfE)  

• Higher Education Funding Council for Wales (HEFCW) 

• Department for Education and Skills, Wales (DfES) 

• Department for the Economy (Northern Ireland) (DfE Northern Ireland) 

• Scottish Further and Higher Education Funding Council (SFC) 

A subscription fee is also paid by HE institutions across the UK.  The chart below shows the different 

elements of our core funding in 2017-18:  

 

 

                                                                    

2 Until 31 March 2018, funding for HE in England was provided by the Higher Education Funding Council for 
England (HEFCE).  From 1 April 2018, funding for HE has been received from the newly formed Office for Students 
and Research England.   

HEFCE/OfS/Research 
England  £40.00m 

DfE (England)  £20.00m 

SFC  £9.87m 

HEFCW  £2.07m 

DfE (Northern Ireland)  
£1.75m 

DfES (Wales)  £1.54m 

HE subscriptions  
£10.77m 

https://www.officeforstudents.org.uk/
https://re.ukri.org/
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/department-for-education
http://www.hefcw.ac.uk/
http://wales.gov.uk/topics/educationandskills/?lang=en
https://www.economy-ni.gov.uk/
http://www.sfc.ac.uk/
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Governance and management  

Trustees 

The trustees of the company who were in office during the year and up to the date of signing the 

financial statements were: 

Professor Elizabeth Barnes vice chancellor and chief executive, 

Staffordshire University 

nominated by Universities 

UK 

Susan Bowen vice president and general manager, 

Cogeco Peer 1 

 

Dr Paul Feldman chief executive, Jisc  

Robin Ghurbhurun chief executive and principal, 

Richmond upon Thames College 

nominated by Association 

of Colleges 

Professor Philip Gummett, CBE retired chief executive, Higher 

Education Funding Council for Wales 

nominated by Jisc’s core 

funders 

Professor Paul Layzell principal, Royal Holloway, University 

of London 

 

Professor David Maguire (chair) vice chancellor, University of 

Greenwich 

 

Robert McWilliam chief financial officer, Asda Group 

Limited 

 

Professor Nigel Seaton principal and vice chancellor, Abertay 

University 

nominated by GuildHE 

Professor Mark Smith vice chancellor, Lancaster University  

Dr Ken Thomson principal, Forth Valley College  

Professor Anne Trefethen pro vice chancellor, University of 

Oxford 

 

Independence of trustees 

The nature of Jisc’s business, and its relationship with UK higher education institutions and further 

education colleges through institutional membership and the delivery of services means that Jisc does 

have a relationship with the employing organisations of several trustees.  However, this is reflective of 

the membership structure of the organisation and the purposeful approach to ensuring Jisc’s activities 

are guided by the customers we exist to serve and does not affect the independence of trustees.  Our 

trustees, with the exception of our chief executive, are all considered to be independent non-executive 

directors.   

Trustees are appointed for a maximum term of six years – a three-year initial term and an extension of 

up to a further three years subject to a positive performance review and subject to the agreement of 

appointing organisations where this applies.3  

                                                                    

3 There has been one exception to the maximum term of trustees.  Professor Paul Layzell will reach the end of his second term 
of appointment in December 2018.  The Nominations and Governance committee recommended, and the board agreed, that 
Professor Paul Layzell was reappointed for a further year, to December 2019, to oversee the merger with Eduserv.  Professor 
Paul Layzell was previously chair of Eduserv and chairs the Mergers Advisory Group 



Jisc Trustees’ Report and Financial Statements 

Year ended 31 July 2018  

Jisc Trustees’ Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 July 2018                                                                                                                      23 

Jisc Executive Leadership Team 

The following members of the Jisc Executive Leadership Team are responsible for managing the day to 

day activities of the charitable company: 

Dr Paul Feldman chief executive 

Alice Colban chief operating officer and deputy chief executive (company secretary) 

Keith Cole executive director, digital resources 

Bob Day executive director, Janet, chief technology officer, Jisc Technologies 

Robert Haymon-Collins executive director, marketing and communications 

Tim Kidd executive director, Jisc Technologies 

Steve Masters 

(since 4 December 2017) 

group chief technology officer 

 

Dr Phil Richards chief innovation officer 

Jon Tucker executive director, member engagement and sales 

Mark Wright chief financial officer 

Membership structure and VAT-exempt Cost Sharing Group 

Our membership model is currently based on Jisc institutional membership, which is open to all eligible 

higher education institutions and further education colleges across the UK.  Eligibility is determined by 

the core funding received from the higher and further education funding bodies.  

With Jisc institutional membership comes automatic membership of the VAT-exempt Cost Sharing 

Group, which means that members will not pay VAT on a range of optional services that Jisc provides.  

In order to become and remain a member of the VAT-exempt Cost Sharing Group, an organisation must 

meet a small number of membership conditions.  These are detailed on the Jisc website at 

https://www.jisc.ac.uk/membership/vat-exempt-cost-sharing-group.   

 

In 2017-18, the Jisc subscription was charged through the VAT-exempt Cost Sharing Group to allow 

subscribers to make additional savings.  From 1 August 2018, the Jisc subscription will no longer be 

charged through the VAT-exempt Cost Sharing Group. This is as a result of a potentially more 

favourable way of managing the VAT on the subscription being identified for Jisc. 

 

In addition, HMRC issued revised guidance in relation to the operation of Cost Sharing Groups which 

took effect from 15 August 2018 (with a transitional period until 31 December 2018). As a consequence 

of these changes, a review is being undertaken to assess the services where it continues to be beneficial 

to members to retain these in the Cost Sharing Group. It is expected that the result of the review will be 

that only a small number of services will remain in the Cost Sharing Group going forward. 

 

At 31 July 2018, 153 higher education institutions and 125 FE, Sixth Form or Specialist colleges in the 

UK were Jisc members, along with our Representative Members.  A full Register of Members is available 

at https://www.jisc.ac.uk/membership/vat-exempt-cost-sharing-group.  

Role of the members 

Institutional Members are represented by the most appropriate Representative Member (Association of 

Colleges, GuildHE or Universities UK) to act on their behalf in governance matters of Jisc.  Institutional 

Members are free to choose to represent themselves, though none have elected to do so.  This 

https://www.jisc.ac.uk/membership/vat-exempt-cost-sharing-group
https://www.jisc.ac.uk/membership/vat-exempt-cost-sharing-group
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approach saves Institutional Members the overhead costs associated with discussing governance and 

compliance activities with us and saves us the cost of discussing procedural matters with a significant 

number of members.  Jisc’s Representative Members therefore also act in the interests of their 

nominating members. 

The liability of each member (both Institutional and Representative) is limited to a maximum of £1. This 

liability will apply for the duration of membership of the charitable company and for one year beyond the 

end of membership. 

Jisc’s members have the rights afforded to them by the Companies Act 2006.  Each Representative 

Member is the same class of member, each having one vote on resolutions proposed to 

members. Representative Members also have one vote on behalf of all the Institutional Members they 

represent.  Ordinary resolutions specific to members meetings can be passed by a simple majority 

vote.  Further information on the types of decision to be proposed to members through a resolution is 

included in our Articles of Association. 

Role of the Board and Trustees 

The Trustees are also the directors of the charitable company for the purposes of company law. In 

discharging their responsibilities, Trustees must act solely in the interests of the charitable company - 

they are not the delegates or representatives of any nominating body.     

The responsibilities of the Board are written into the Articles of Association.  The Board: 

➢ Approves the strategic aims for Jisc and its values and standards  

➢ Ensures that financial and human resources are in place to meet these aims 

➢ Reviews management performance 

➢ Ensures that Jisc’s obligations to its members, customers and funders are understood and 

met 

➢ Reviews and approves corporate strategy, budgets and business plans 

➢ Agrees objectives and monitors performance 

➢ Oversees the integrity of the charitable company’s accounting and financial reporting systems 

➢ Oversees the integrity of the external audit process 

➢ Approves the annual financial statements based on advice from the Audit and Risk 

Management committee 

➢ Reviews its own performance and effectiveness annually 

 

Certain activities are delegated to Board committees (see the Board committee section on page 27) but 

responsibility remains with the Board. 

Trustees also take roles as chairs of the four Board committees (Nominations & Governance; Audit and 

Risk Management; Finance and Treasury; Remuneration) and chairs of the Stakeholder Forum (a key 

mechanism for engaging with Jisc’s stakeholders).  The chairs of these committees are appointed by the 

Board based on recommendations from the Nominations and Governance committee. The Jisc chair 

also chairs the Funders and Owners Group, which brings together representatives from our funders and 

Representative Members with senior Jisc officers. 
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Responsibilities of Trustees 

The Trustees of a charitable company have ultimate responsibility for directing the affairs of the 

charitable company. They must ensure that the charitable company is and remains solvent, they must 

use the charitable company's funds prudently and only in furtherance of the charitable company's objects 

and they must avoid undertaking activities that might place the charitable company's funds at undue risk. 

To ensure that Trustees are able to appropriately discharge their duties, Trustees are expected to make 

every effort to attend the four Board meetings held each year as well as the annual away day, and to 

participate fully in discussions.  The following table indicates attendance of Trustees at full Board 

meetings throughout 2017-18: 

Trustee Eligibility to attend (based 
on term of office) 

Actual 
attendance 

Professor Elizabeth Barnes 4 2 

Susan Bowen 4 2 

Dr Paul Feldman 4 4 

Robin Ghurbhurun 4 4 

Professor Philip Gummett CBE 4 4 

Professor Paul Layzell 4 4 

Professor David Maguire 4 4 

Robert McWilliam 4 4 

Professor Nigel Seaton  4 3 

Professor Mark Smith 4 3 

Dr Ken Thomson 4 4 

Professor Anne Trefethen 4 3 

Board effectiveness review 

An annual review of the effectiveness of the Jisc Board was conducted between October and November 

2017.  The review was externally facilitated by EMA Business & Management Consultancy Ltd, which 

also undertook a separate review of the Audit and Risk Management committee.  The review involved 

scoping meetings with senior staff and the chair of the Board, followed by a desk-based review of 

supporting information (including meeting papers and trustee induction materials), a trustee 

questionnaire and one to one interviews with each trustee.  The recommendations of the review were 

considered and agreed by the Nominations and Governance committee and the Board.  The 

recommendations have been implemented through 2017-18.   

A light touch review will be conducted in autumn 2018.  This will be managed internally and will be 

similar to previous internal reviews, though building on the intelligence gathered through the 2017 

review. 

Appointment of chair and Trustees 

 

Jisc chair 

The Jisc chair is appointed by the Representative Members (see Legal and administrative information 

section on page 19).  This is a separate role to that of the Jisc chief executive and there is no intention to 

alter this structure.  In 2017-18, our Representative Members considered and agreed to reappoint 

Professor David Maguire as chair for a second three year term. 
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Jisc trustees 

Our trustees include senior leaders working in UK further and higher education and individuals with the 

business skills and expertise that will help shape Jisc for the future. Individuals are drawn from across 

the UK to provide an appropriate balance of experience from the respective countries and from the 

sectors we serve, and in accordance with our defined skills set for trustees.  There have been no new 

trustee appointments during 2017-18.  Following a review of performance by the Jisc chair, three 

trustees (Professor Nigel Seaton, Professor Mark Smith and Dr Ken Thomson) were each reappointed 

for a second three year term.  

As at 31 July 2018, the composition of the Board was as follows: 

 

These Trustees are identified in the Governance and management section on page 22 of this report. The 

merger with Eduserv will result in the appointment of a further two trustees, bringing the number of 

trustees to fourteen.  It is anticipated that this will reduce back to twelve trustees over time as trustees 

come to the end of their terms of appointment. 

The diversity of the Board remains an issue that we are keen to address.  Bringing together diverse 

experience and expertise increases constructive discussions and facilitates better decision-making.   

Candidates from diverse backgrounds are sought whenever a vacancy on the Board arises and 

candidates from under-represented groups are encouraged.  Gender diversity on the Board remains 

unchanged, with women forming 25% of Trustees at 31 July 2018.  The Nominations and Governance 

committee will be actively considering mechanisms for increasing diversity in 2018-19.  Further 

information on the work of the Nominations and Governance committee can be found under Key Board 

committees on page 27.  Information on diversity within senior management and the wider Jisc 

workforce can be found in the Diversity section of this report on page 35.   

An induction is provided to new trustees on our activities, financial position and risks as well as their 

duties and responsibilities in the context of the charitable company.  The induction process includes 

detailed briefings from members of Jisc’s senior leadership team and visits to Jisc’s offices.  Good 

Chair -
appointed by 

Representative 
Members

1 Trustee 
appointed by 
Association 
of Colleges

1 Trustee 
appointed by 

GuildHE

1 Trustee 
appointed by 
Universities 

UK

1 Trustee 
appointed by 

funders

Up to 6 
Trustees 

appointed by 
the Board

Jisc chief 
executive
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practice documentation from the Charity Commission is shared with all trustees upon appointment and 

when new or updated documents are published. 

Remuneration of Trustees 

In the year to 31 July 2018, remuneration has been paid to Dr Paul Feldman (as Chief Executive) and 

Professor David Maguire as Jisc Chair. This remuneration is paid for these additional roles undertaken 

on behalf of Jisc and not in their capacity as trustees. No other trustees are currently remunerated.   

The details of the remuneration are shown in note 13 of the Financial Statements on page 65. The level 

of remuneration has been approved by the Remuneration committee and Jisc’s Articles of Association 

give express authority for this payment.   

A Travel and Subsistence policy is available for Trustees and committee members.  The policy has been 

developed with due heed to Charity Commission guidance.  Travel and subsistence costs are refunded 

to Trustees and committee members on submission of a claim with supporting receipts and payment is 

subject to compliance with the policy.   

Jisc also arranges and pays for overnight accommodation as required for trustees and committee 

members to facilitate their attendance at committee or Board meetings where same day travel is not 

considered reasonable or possible.  These costs are included in the note relating to trustees’ expenses 

in note 13 of the Financial Statements on page 65. 

Trustees’ indemnity insurance 

Trustee indemnity insurance provides insurance cover for charitable company trustees against claims 

which may arise from their legitimate actions as Trustees.  Insurance is in place for all trustees through 

the course of their appointment with Jisc.  There have been no claims against this insurance in the 

reporting year. 

Key Board committees 

The Board has four standing committees that undertake key activities on its behalf.  Each committee has 

responsibility across the Jisc Group and operates under defined terms of reference agreed by the Board.  

The terms of reference are reviewed annually to ensure that they remain appropriate and are available at 

https://www.jisc.ac.uk/about/corporate/structure-and-governance.  

Reports from the committees are regularly received by the Board and the Board remains responsible for 

the activity it has delegated to these committees.  The Jisc Articles of Association clearly identify areas 

of responsibility which cannot be delegated such as Jisc’s overall strategy. 

Audit and Risk Management committee 

The Audit and Risk Management committee meets three times a year in November, March and July.  

The main items that the committee have addressed in the reporting year are: 

• The approach to internal audit and the appointment of a Group internal audit manager 

(further information is available on pages 31 to 32) 

• Review of a range of internal audits and subsequent actions 

• Review of plans for external audit for the Jisc Group 

• An anti-fraud strategy and associated risk issues 

https://www.jisc.ac.uk/about/corporate/structure-and-governance
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• Review of Jisc Group company annual reports and financial statements 

While the Audit and Risk Management committee has detailed oversight of health and safety issues, the 

responsibility for health and safety remains firmly with the Jisc Board.  An internal Health and Safety 

committee, made up of a range of staff representatives and chaired by the Deputy Chief Executive 

meets regularly to review policy, agree and deliver an annual workplan and provide performance reports 

to the Audit and Risk Management committee and Jisc Board.  

Further information about the committee’s responsibility for internal control is reported under the Risk 

Management and internal control section of this report on page 30. 

Membership and attendance 

The following table includes details of the members of the Audit and Risk Management committee and 

their attendance at meetings during 2017-18: 

Committee member 

 

Eligibility to attend 
(based on term of 

office) 

Actual 
attendance 

Professor Philip Gummett CBE, Jisc Trustee (Chair) 3 3 

Gary Horne, Executive Vice Principal: Finance and Corporate 
Development, Colchester Institute (from 27 June 2018) 

1 1 

Bryan Ingleby, Chartered Accountant  3 3 

Stephen Large, Vice-President (Finance), King’s College 
London (until 27 June 2018)  

2 04 

Nicola Owen, Chief Administrative Officer, Lancaster University  3 1 

Professor Nigel Seaton, Jisc Trustee  3 3 

 

Members of the Jisc Executive Leadership Team and a member of Jisc’s Governance Team attend 

meetings of the committee but are not members thereof.  Our internal auditor(s) are in attendance at 

each meeting to discuss audit findings and recommendations for the improvement of our system of 

internal controls, together with management’s responses. 

Our external auditors join the committee to present their plan for the annual Audit Strategy (July meeting) 

and to present their opinion of the Annual Reports and Financial Statements for the Jisc Group 

(November meeting).  The committee has the option of meeting the external and internal auditors on 

their own for independent discussions without the presence of Jisc staff.   

Finance and Treasury committee 

The Finance and Treasury committee was established in early 2018 and held two meetings in the 

reporting year, in February and June 2018.  The committee expects to meet three times annually.  The 

main items that the committee have addressed in the reporting year are: 

• A review of Jisc’s financial performance in 2017-18 and its budget for 2018-19 

• A review of Jisc’s reserves policy 

• The creation of an investment strategy and implementation plan for Jisc 

                                                                    

4 Stephen Large indicated that he wished to step down from the committee though agreed to remain a member and 
available for advice while a new committee member was sought 
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The following table includes details of the members of the Finance and Treasury committee and their 

attendance at meetings during 2017-18: 

Committee member 

 

Eligibility to attend 
(based on term of 

office) 

Actual 
attendance 

Robert McWilliam, Jisc Trustee (Chair) 2 2 

Professor Paul Layzell, Jisc Trustee 2 2 

Louise Parr-Morley, Director, Corporate Services, Royal 
Society for the Protection of Birds (RSPB) 

1 1 

Dr Paul Feldman, Jisc chief executive 2 2 

 

Nominations and Governance Committee 

The Nominations and Governance committee met once in 2017-18, in November 2017.  The main items 

that the committee have addressed in the reporting year are: 

• The externally facilitated review of the effectiveness of the Jisc Board and the Audit and 

Risk Management committee 

• The role and terms of reference of the new Finance and Treasury committee 

• The reappointment of the Jisc chair and three trustees, the appointment of a new member 

to the Audit and Risk Management committee and the appointment of trustees and 

members to the Finance and Treasury committee 

The following table includes details of the members of the Nominations and Governance committee and 

their attendance at meetings during 2017-18: 

Committee member 

 

Eligibility to attend 
(based on term of 

office) 

Actual 
attendance 

Professor David Maguire, Jisc Trustee (Chair) 1 1 

Professor Elizabeth Barnes, Jisc Trustee 1 1 

Robin Ghurbhurun, Jisc Trustee  1 1 

Professor Philip Gummett CBE, Jisc Trustee  1 1 

Professor Nigel Seaton, Jisc Trustee  1 1 

The chief executive, chief operating officer and deputy company secretary are in attendance at meetings 

of the committee but are not members thereof.   

 

Remuneration committee 

The committee meets as required throughout the year and holds email discussions as necessary to 

discharge their duties.  In the reporting year the committee has met twice, in September 2017 and June 

2018.   

The main items that the committee have addressed in the reporting year are: 

• Jisc Group pay review  

• Senior management performance reviews 

• Bonus and commission scheme for staff 
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• Gender pay gap reporting 

• Senior team structure (associated with proposed merger) 

The following table includes details of the members of the Remuneration committee and their attendance 

at meetings during 2017-18: 

Committee member 
 

Eligibility to attend 
(based on term of 

office) 

Actual 
attendance 

Robin Ghurbhurun, Jisc Trustee (Chair from 1 November 
2018) 

2 2 

Professor Paul Layzell, Jisc Trustee  2 2 

Professor David Maguire, Jisc Trustee (Chair until 31 
October 2018 - see below for agreed changes to this 
role) 

2 2 

The chief executive, deputy chief executive (and chief operating officer) and the Director for people are 

in attendance when it is appropriate and are absent when issues of direct relevance to their positions are 

discussed.  

A review of the Remuneration committee has been undertaken and in accordance with good practice, 

some changes to its operation will be implemented during 2018-19. A new committee chair has been 

appointed from among existing committee members, and this role is no longer held by the Jisc chair.  

The attendance of the chief executive and other executive attendees at meetings has, and will continue 

to be, at the invitation of the committee only. The committee will also provide a formal annual report to 

the board each year on its activities. 

Slavery and human trafficking statement 

In accordance with the Modern Slavery Act 2015 (“Act”), Jisc publishes a Slavery and human trafficking 

statement in each financial year.  Jisc’s statement has been updated and is available on the Jisc website 

at https://www.jisc.ac.uk/about/corporate/slavery-and-human-trafficking-statement?loc=footer.  

The statement has been approved by the Jisc Board and signed on its behalf by the Chair and Chief 

Executive.   

Risk management and internal control 

Jisc Board and internal control 

The Jisc Board is ultimately responsible for the charitable company’s system of internal control and for 

reviewing its effectiveness.  Our internal control system is designed to manage rather than eliminate the 

risk of failure to achieve business objectives and can only provide reasonable and not absolute 

assurance of effectiveness.   

We align to the UK Corporate Governance Code and this statement explains our approach to 

governance. We will look again at the Charity Governance Code for next year.     

The Audit and Risk Management committee provides a high level review of the internal control 

arrangements of the Group and reports on this to the Board. One element of the system of internal 

controls is Internal Audit, which undertakes a programme of work, agreed with and reported to the Audit 

https://www.jisc.ac.uk/about/corporate/slavery-and-human-trafficking-statement?loc=footer
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and Risk Management committee.  The programme of internal audits is considered and agreed by the 

committee and the Jisc Board each year and is designed in the context of a wider assurance framework.  

In March 2018, a new Internal audit manager was appointed to manage this activity in place of an 

external firm. 

Risk Management Framework 

The following key principles outline the approach to risk management:  

• The Board has responsibility for overseeing risk management within Jisc as a whole.  

• The Board encourages well-managed risk taking where it has good potential to realise 

sustainable improvements in service delivery and value for money.  

• The Board encourages Jisc to use risk assessment as a means of assessing the 

opportunities, as well as threats, for operations.  

• An open and receptive approach to solving risk problems is adopted by the Board.  

• The Executive Leadership Team supports, advises and implements decisions agreed by 

the Board.  

• Decision making and planning should be supported by risk assessment and management 

at a Jisc-wide, Jisc directorate, service or project level.  

There is a formal risk management framework in place. The framework allows assessment of strategic 

and operational risks and the implementation of risk management strategies. A strategic (corporate) risk 

register, including key high level risks is owned by the Executive Leadership Team, and is reviewed 

every two months or more frequently as necessary. The risk register covers commercial, financial, 

political, environmental, cultural, acquisition and quality risks.  

Each Jisc directorate has its own risk register related to the strategic register as appropriate, with more 

specific service and project related risk registers as necessary. Comprehensive risk management 

training is provided to all managers and appropriate staff and supporting documentation is available for 

all staff across the organisation.  The principal risks associated with Jisc can be found in the Principal 

Risks and Uncertainties section on page 17. 

The framework also includes a risk appetite, which describes the amount and type of risk we are willing 

to take to achieve our strategic objectives. It deals with the decisions that we make for things that are 

under our control. It does not deal with risks created through external uncertainty.  Our risk appetite 

enables faster management decision-making by providing easily accessible and applicable levels of risks 

in agreed areas of activity.  It also enables quick identification of potential risks associated with both 

business decisions and operational activity. This allows us to capture risks early in the process and put 

in place mitigating actions to reduce those risks to within tolerance. 

The full risk appetite is available to all staff and is reviewed annually by the Audit and Risk Management 

committee.   

Internal control 

A system of internal control exists to provide reasonable assurance against inappropriate use of 

resources and against the risk of errors or fraud. It also supports the achievement of policies, aims and 

objectives. Internal control processes include: 

• a Jisc strategy, approved by the Board; 
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• a Jisc-wide operating plan; 

• an annual budget approved by the Board; 

• consideration of the financial results of the group by the Board including variance from 

budgets and benchmarking reviews; 

• delegation of authority and segregation of duties; 

• identification and management of risks or potential risks through a strategic risk register; 

• an internal auditor reporting to the Audit and Risk Management Committee and Trustees; 

• processes in place for identifying and managing compliance with relevant legislation and 

with the requirements of regulatory bodies; and; 

• operational policies and procedures for staff. 

The internal auditors (now Internal Audit Manager) are responsible for the planning and completion of a 

programme of risk-based audits designed to review the effectiveness of internal control processes 

across the Jisc Group and to provide recommendations on the strengthening of the control environment.  

An assurance map has been created for 2018-19 to ensure appropriate coverage of risk areas through 

either internal audits or management reporting, which is presented to the Audit and Risk Management 

committee and Board. 

Jisc internal audit opinion 2017-18  

As internal audit in 2017-18 was undertaken by both an external firm (BDO) and Jisc’s Internal Audit 

manager, there are two internal audit opinions for 2017-18, based on their reviews undertaken and 

completed during the period, and in the context of materiality: 

Jisc internal audit opinion 2017-18 (BDO) 

The risk management activities and controls in the areas which we examined were found to be 

suitably designed to achieve the specific risk management, control and governance objectives in the 

key areas. 

Based on our sample testing, risk management, control and governance arrangements were operating 

with sufficient effectiveness to provide reasonable assurance that the related risk management, 

control and governance objectives were achieved by the end of the period under review. 

 

Jisc internal audit opinion 2017-18 (Jisc Group Internal Audit manager) 

The activities and controls in the areas which I have examined were found to be suitably designed to 

achieve the specific management, control and governance objectives in the key areas. 

Based on my sample testing, management, control and governance arrangements were operating 

with sufficient effectiveness to provide reasonable assurance that the related objectives were achieved 

by the end of the period under review. 

Financial policies  

A number of financial policies are in place for the Jisc Group.  In 2017-18, responsibility for review of 

these policies transferred from the Audit and Risk Management committee to the new Finance and 

Treasury committee as the more appropriate committee.   
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The policies are: 

• Treasury – this describes the nature of the investments that Jisc holds.  Neither Jisc nor its 

subsidiaries have a requirement for external borrowings. Any borrowings are not permitted to 

be taken out without the prior consent from HEFCE (and its successors) under the terms of 

the grant funding agreement. 

• Reserves (‘funds’) – the Finance and Treasury committee sets Jisc’s policy on reserves in 

order to ensure Jisc has an appropriate level of financial resources to safeguard the 

organisation from medium term liquidity constraints. Jisc is operating within the thresholds 

set by the Committee.  Further details are provided in pages 14 and 15. 

Credit risk 

The Jisc Group’s activities are primarily with state-funded education and research bodies and, as such, 

has minimum credit risk.   

Liquidity risk 

In its cash management, Jisc ensures that there are sufficient cash balances to meet day-to-day needs 

of the organisation.  This is reflected in the investment strategy that is being developed for Jisc.  

Payment practices 

In accordance with regulations in the Small Business, Enterprise and Employment Act 2015, Jisc 

prepared and submitted its first payment practices report on 1 March 2018.  The reports will be 

submitted for each 6 month period and are available online at https://check-payment-

practices.service.gov.uk/company/05747339/reports.  

Grant-making policies  

In some cases, we provide grants to organisations to provide services on our behalf or to participate in 

projects.  Grants are managed through specific agreements, which set out the conditions of the grant, 

including reporting requirements and when and how disclosure will happen. The agreement also outlines 

our responsibilities. Grants are usually disbursed in instalments to ensure that agreed timings and results 

are being met and managed.  Jisc staff, monitor and evaluate progress throughout the period of the 

grants. The nature of these activities will depend on the size and complexity of the grant and the 

perceived level of risk. 

Internal organisation and policies 
Directorate structure and staff numbers 

A directorate structure exists within Jisc, with five customer facing directorates (Digital Futures, Digital 

Resources, Jisc technologies, Marketing and Communications, Membership and Sales) and two 

directorates focused on delivering the infrastructure necessary for the organisation (Finance and 

Commercial and Strategy and Corporate Services). A new Data and Analytics directorate has been 

established from 1 August 2018.  Each directorate is led by an Executive Director who sits on the Jisc 

Executive Leadership team (see the Executive Leadership list on page 23).  The directorate structure 

spans all companies in the Jisc Group.  Working together, these directorates deliver our key activities 

and priorities. 

https://check-payment-practices.service.gov.uk/company/05747339/reports
https://check-payment-practices.service.gov.uk/company/05747339/reports
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Jisc’s headcount has increased by 8.5% over the past 12 months to 591 employees as at 31 July 2018 

of which 12% (72 employees) are on fixed term contracts (15% in 2017).   

Should the proposed mergers proceed, our headcount will increase as staff are transferred to Jisc under 

TUPE.  There are also likely to be changes necessary to our directorate and senior management 

structure to ensure that the anticipated benefits of merger are realised.  Pay structures and other terms 

and conditions will need to be reviewed and brought into line over time. 

 

Jisc’s People Plan 

We launched Jisc’s People Plan in 2017.  The People Plan is aspirational and sets out how we value, 

lead, develop and support our people. It is made up of 8 work streams with initiatives that have been 

developed in response to feedback received from engagement surveys and temperature checks. The 

key themes of the Plan are: developing our people, transforming our culture and building staff 

engagement to strengthen the services we provide to our members and becoming a diverse, inclusive, 

flexible and agile organisation.   

Two discussions were held with trustees during the year specifically focussing on culture.  During the 

year we have used the four pillars of engagement (from Engage for Success) as a structure to drive the 

engagement of employees.  The four pillars are: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

These four pillars are interwoven into all our activities around the development of our culture and 

embedding of our values. 

To increase employee engagement in September 2017, we ran the first externally benchmarked 

engagement survey providing us with rich data on employees’ views and identifying areas to improve. 

Our overall results were good with 54% of employees saying, ‘this is a great place to work’.  Our 

ambition is to achieve as a minimum, best in class at 65%. After sharing the results with employees, 

working groups were established with volunteers developing action plans to address the areas of specific 

concern. We also run regular temperature checks with staff to obtain feedback and report such feedback 

to the board.  

In December 2017, we brought the whole organisation together for Jisc’s inaugural staff conference, held 

in the central location of Edgbaston Stadium, Birmingham. It provided an opportunity for employees to 

network with each other, hear passionately from a member organisation and learn from our strategy 

leads. It was well received, creating energy and enthusiasm with 89.7% of those who responded 
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requesting that this becomes a regular event.  A further staff conference was held in November 2018 

and was focussed around encouraging staff to generate and share ideas for apps, products or services. 

Fuse, our learning platform was launched in March 2018.  This is a major step change and provides the 

foundation for creating a learning culture providing access to a vast range of learning resources, across 

a range of subjects available to all staff.  The platform also encourages collaboration across the 

organisation by helping to share skills and supporting both formal and informal learning.  

In the spring of 2018, we introduced smarter ways of working, partly driven by our estates strategy and 

the need to rationalise our footprint, but also to provide employees with the opportunity to work more 

flexibly. Managing on outputs rather than inputs gives employees the autonomy to work more flexibly 

based on operational needs. Effective performance management is key to the success of smarter 

working with employees having absolute clarity on what is expected of them. To enhance the quality of 

performance management conversations we have prioritised the development of high performing 

managers. We have introduced a people manager charter setting out our expectations of a people 

manager.  We continue to develop new people manager development programmes starting with 

coaching in September 2018. 

Going into 2018/19 our focus will be on enhancing our talent pipeline. We have recruited 8 further 

apprentices who started in September 2018 covering the development of cyber security to legal skills. 

This has increased our number of apprentices to 10 since the launch of our apprentice programme in 

2017.  We are also beginning to look at how we develop and prepare successors for both our executive 

leadership team and for critical roles, mitigating risk and creating a pool of talent with targeted 

development solutions. In addition, we are developing technical career paths, providing an opportunity 

for people to pursue not just management careers but also to develop as world class technical experts 

so critical to our success. 

 

Diversity and workforce profile 

Equality, diversity and inclusion   

 

The Equality, Diversity and Inclusion plan’s objective is to create an inclusive environment where 

everyone’s contributions are recognised and valued, and all have an equal chance to succeed.  Our 

equality and diversity policy outlines how we  do this and is integral to all of our activities from talent 

management through to remuneration. 

The plan has five main streams of activities and has been expanded to include actions to contribute to 

addressing the gender pay gap.  We believe that actions to address gender will also have a positive 

impact on all areas of diversity.   

In the technology sector only 17% of technology/ICT workers in the UK are female and this lack of 

gender diversity in the sector is also reflected in other areas such as race and disability.  Yet there is a 

looming digital skills gap where the UK needs one million more tech workers by 2020.  Therefore, 

embracing diversity and inclusion is essential to ensure we can continue to attract and retain great talent 

and ensure our products and services are relevant to the audiences we support. 

We are continuing to improve the diversity of our workforce by looking at where and how we advertise 

our roles, encouraging flexible working options, and holding events such as WomenHack.   

https://jisc365.sharepoint.com/sites/ps/collab/LinktoIntranet/4.%20People%20services%20policies/Jisc%20HR%20(Equality%20and%20Diversity%20Policy)%20v3.pdf
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We have provided on line training resources for unconscious bias on our new learning platform, 

launched our Dignity at work policy, established our Equality, Diversity and Inclusion network which 

includes 103 members (representing nearly 20% of our staff), signed up to the TechTalent Charter and 

participated for the first time in Bring your daughter to work day.  In addition, we have created a calendar 

of events aimed at raising awareness and celebrating diversity, including International Women’s day, 

June Pride month, Black History month, Dyslexia awareness month, Ada Lovelace day and International 

Men’s day. As part of this our staff have created a series of videos and blogs called #thisisme in which 

our people bring to life diversity and inclusion issues at work by sharing their experiences, widening our 

perspectives and celebrating difference.   

To achieve our commitment to inspire a diverse pool of young people and females into STEM (Science, 

Technology, Engineering, Maths) subjects and careers we have launched our partnership with STEM 

Ambassadors.    This provides our staff training, support and an established network to volunteer with 

local schools and youth groups.   

Our analysis of our gender pay data provides us with evidence-based insight into diversity issues holding 

our organisation back. Our gender pay gap illustrates that we have some way to go to make the most of 

all talent pools.  We acknowledge that these issues will not be addressed overnight and have used this 

as an opportunity to understand the size of our pay and bonus gaps and to tackle the root causes. We 

are encouraged that the steps that we have taken to date have already started to show a downward 

trajectory in our gender pay gap, although of course there is much more to do. 

 

Next steps for equality, diversity and inclusion at Jisc include: 

 

• Sharing quarterly diversity reports with the senior leadership team to create visibility and 

awareness of diversity across Jisc and areas to address 

• Continuing to improve our career pages and review our recruitment sources, to assure a diverse 

field of candidates and that these are accessible to all 

• Providing training for recruiting managers to raise awareness of their legal obligations in terms of 

equality.  We will also continue to develop tools and guidance for recruiting managers to manage 

bias, take into account adaptations for disabled candidates and recruit on merit 

• Launching and implementing our updated Flexible working and Family leave policies 

• Developing and implementing a programme to encourage and support women to return to work 

from maternity leave 

• Building on our successful initiatives, we will focus further on Jisc’s commitment to address race 

and disability gaps 

• Building on the on-line training resources on unconscious bias by completing interactive group 

events to shift mindsets, raise awareness and manage unconscious bias 

• Developing and implementing a programme to maintain awareness of and promote STEM 

ambassadors 

• Considering the options and benefits for creating women in leadership learning communities on 

our learning platform to provide focused development resource 
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Diversity data 

Age and gender  

Jisc employs staff across a broad age group, with staff ranging from 19 to 68 years old.  There are low 

levels of staff at either end of the spectrum, with the majority of staff (82%) being between 25 and 54 

years old (2017: 84%). 

The gender split across the organisation is 56% male (54% 2017) to 44% female (46% 2017). In the last 

year 53% of our leavers were female but only 43% of our new starters were female.  Differences exist 

between the genders within all the individual age categories, with a fewer number of females in all 

categories except 25 – 34. Differences also exist across the directorates - with Membership and sales, 

Jisc technologies and Digital futures being predominantly male. Marketing and communications, Finance 

and commercial and Digital resources have a majority of female staff.   We are investigating this data to 

better understand and address the reasons for this. 

 

The executive leadership team (ELT) comprises the chief executive and all executive directors of the 

organisation.  The diversity profile of this group is shown below: 
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The diversity profile of the senior leadership team of Jisc (those at pay grade A – 20 male, 9 female) is as 

follows: 

 

Ethnicity and religion 

Diversity data is held on our Human Resources Information System in accordance with GPDR principles. 

Whilst we encourage staff to complete their diversity data they are not obliged to do so. The response 

rates range from 55% to 72% on each personal characteristic.  This is an improvement from last year 

which ranged from 47% to 55% response rate on each characteristic. 

Of the 63% of staff that have completed their ethnicity details (2017: 55%), the majority of staff (93%) 

categorise themselves as ‘White’, with 7% of staff from other ethnic backgrounds. Jisc’s reported profile 

of 93% White is a higher proportion than the general population based on the most recent population 

census (2011) of 86%. 
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In terms of religion, of the 54% of staff that have completed their religion, 44% indicate that they follow 

‘no religion/belief’, with 22% of staff indicating that they are ‘Christian’. 

 

Sexual Orientation 

Of the 55% of staff that have provided their sexual orientation details (2017: 49%), 82% indicate that 

they are ‘heterosexual’ with 12% of staff preferring not to say and a total of 7% indicating that they are 

‘gay’, ‘lesbian’ or ‘bisexual’. 
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Supporting staff with disability 

Jisc supports individuals with disabilities by providing appropriate support and/or adjustments.  We do 

this by providing full and careful consideration to applications for employment from registered disabled 

candidates with due regard to their aptitudes and abilities. In line with our commitment to a diverse and 

inclusive workforce disabled employees have equality of access to training, development and 

progression. Sympathetic support is also given to support the return to work and retention of a newly 

disabled employees, providing where required a period of rehabilitation, support and training. 

 

In addition to the actions we are taking as part of our equality, diversity and inclusion plan, Jisc takes a 

proactive approach to supporting the health, safety and wellbeing of all staff and works with an 

independent occupational health provider, who  liaises with staff, line managers and the people services 

team to determine if there are any measures or reasonable adjustments to be considered to support the 

individual in the workplace. We have 24 staff who have reported that they consider themselves to have a 

disability, representing 4% of the organisation, (3% in 2017). 

 

In addition to the actions we are taking as part of our equality, diversity and inclusion plan, we take a 

proactive approach to supporting the health, safety and wellbeing of all staff. This approach is driven by 

our IMatter Strategy and the work of the health, safety and wellbeing committee.  Five priority areas were 

identified: stress management, work-life balance, one organisation (social togetherness), healthy people, 

and our working environment. These are grouped under five pillars: physical (body); emotional (heart); 

environment (our space); core (spirit); mental (mind).  This forms part of our commitment to an holistic 

approach to health and safety and wellbeing and creating a diverse, inclusive, flexible and healthy 

working environment.  This work is being overseen by our health, safety and wellbeing committee. 

 

In addition, we work with an independent occupational health provider, who liaises with staff, people 

managers and the people services team, to determine if there are any measures or adjustments that 

could be considered to support the individual in the workplace or to return to work. 
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0.61%

Prefer not to say
11.93%

Sexual Orientation 

Bisexual Gay Heterosexual Lesbian Prefer not to say
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All new members of staff complete a pre-employment health questionnaire that is reviewed by 

occupational health to help ensure that we are supporting appropriately staff from the start of their 

employment.   

 

Gender and bonus pay reporting 

 

In February 2018 we held an all staff event to communicate our first gender and bonus pay gap report 

and published the report externally shortly afterwards.  Based on a snapshot of earnings taken at 5 April 

2017 this showed Jisc’s median gender pay gap is 15.9% and mean gender pay gap is 18.1%.  Our 

median bonus pay gap is 25.8% and mean bonus pay gap is 39%.   The main factors that contribute to 

Jisc’s gender pay gap are that we have fewer women in leadership and technical roles.  We are actively 

engaged in a range of actions to address the challenges in closing the gender pay gap.  Our 

commitment to this is demonstrated through our job evaluation processes and the work of our pay group.  

The focused examination of the data behind gender pay gap is enabling us to act on other critical issues 

such as occupational segregation and the barriers to women’s progression into senior roles.    We are 

focussing on four areas for action: 

 

• Promoting the technology sector 

• Attracting women into Jisc 

• Supporting women to stay in Jisc 

• Helping women to progress upwards 

 

Jisc as an employer 

 

We’re working in an environment where we’re seeing the lowest unemployment rates since 1975, 

alongside a shrinking workforce. Research confirms that a strong employer brand increases the diversity 

of applications for roles.   

 

As part of this agenda we have updated our brand as an employer including our career pages on our 

website to attract greater diversity in our talent pools, positioning Jisc as an “employer of choice”.  

During the year we modernised our approach to recruitment to improve the candidate experience. We 

have reduced our time to hire and reliance on recruitment agencies significantly reducing our agency 

costs, dropping from 20% to 5%.  Our time to hire has also decreased by over two weeks.   

 

Changes have included a review of the candidate journey, removing obstacles to application and 

providing more information on what it’s like to work at Jisc. We have introduced new technology such as 

online testing and video interviewing and invested in additional advertising tools.  We have also held 

recruitment and networking events such as Hacker X to raise our profile.   

  

Over the next year there is more to do in further reducing time to hire and providing additional training for 

recruiting managers.  We will also be implementing more new tools which will include new ways of 

assessing candidates, tracking quality of hire and developing a new careers site. 
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Pay, benefits and recognition 

Our objective is to ensure that we have salaries that are market competitive together with an attractive 

array of benefits.  All staff, apart from the executive leadership team, are on a single pay framework.  

The pay framework enables us to: 

• Benchmark salaries across the labour markets in which we operate; 

• Respond flexibly to salary movements in these markets; 

• Encourage and incentivise high performance by providing greater pay awards for high 

performance; and;  

• Recognise and respond to significant occupational/professional/technical/ specialist pay market 

differences within each pay grade  

Our reward philosophy is led by principles established by Jisc’s Remuneration committee (see Key 

Board committees on page 27 of this report).  Pay progression is based on performance underpinned by 

a performance development scheme.   

Executive leadership team 

The Remuneration committee is responsible for determining the remuneration arrangements for the chief 

executive and all members of the executive leadership team (ELT).   

The Remuneration committee plays a critical role in the good governance and scrutiny of executive 

leadership team remuneration, ensuring that such staff are appropriately remunerated in terms of their 

recruitment, retention and motivation.  The committee also ensures that pay governance is both robust 

and a proportionate use of the charity’s funds. 

All members of the ELT are on spot salaries determined by the Remuneration committee.   The salaries 

were benchmarked by the Hay Group in February 2016, at which time the salaries were judged to be 

broadly in line with the median salaries of similar posts in the Public and Not for Profit sectors, and at 

about 90% of comparable salaries in their All Organisations survey.  Further benchmarking was carried 

out by the Hay Group in November 2017.   

The chief executive assesses individual ELT performance using the same performance development 

framework in place for all staff.  This provides scope for assessing and recognising both individual 

performance against agreed objectives and contributions to the corporate effort of the ELT.  In 

considering recommendations for performance-related bonus payments the chief executive will take into 

account the fact that staff in this group can be expected to make a major and visible contribution to the 

success of Jisc as a whole. 

The Remuneration committee will review, consider and discuss the recommendations made by the chief 

executive and take a view on whether the recommendations are justified, fair and equitable.    As part of 

this review they will consider evidence-based criteria, related to performance and behaviours consistent 

with the approach used for other staff in Jisc. 

The chief executive has an annual review of performance conducted by the chair of the Board to discuss 

performance against agreed objectives. The Remuneration committee makes recommendation to the 

Board regarding any changes in remuneration for the chief executive 

The Remuneration committee also considers the annual pay review proposals for all staff across the 

organisation and the resulting overall level of increase in the wage bill. 
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In line with all Jisc staff there is no automatic pay progression for the ELT. The Remuneration committee 

may amend base salaries in the light of changes to responsibilities or market conditions or award non-

consolidated payments (one-off payments that do not affect an employees’ base salary) based on 

performance.  

In addition to the above there is a bonus and a commission scheme in place for members of the 

executive leadership team and account managers and related staff.  

The chief executive is required to withdraw from any discussions of the Remuneration committee that 

relate to his/her own remuneration as are any other staff whose remuneration is being considered by the 

committee. 

The Remuneration committee will report its deliberations to the board, providing sufficient detail to 

enable the Board to assure themselves that a rigorous, fair and defensible process has taken place, 

since overall responsibility remains with the Board. 

Recognition 

We know that money is not always the main or only motivator for staff and we are looking at additional 

ways to recognise the contribution of individuals and teams and continue to demonstrate that we are a 

great place to work and develop.  

We launched our recognition scheme, a living the values award, in April 2018 to reinforce our values and 

raise visibility of the “good stories” with our first awards ceremony held in August 2018. The scheme 

offers everyone a clear, open way to thank our colleagues for doing a great job and for living our values 

of Pace, Passion, Pride, Trust and Teamwork. 

Jisc Rewards, a platform which enables all our staff to access a range of discounts, was launched in 

Autumn 2018.  

Employment policies 

A core set of employment policies are in place and are periodically reviewed to ensure that they meet 

employment legislation, our values and support an inclusive and diverse workforce.  Our approach to our 

people policies is intended to be light touch which means clear and concise policies with supporting 

guidance for people managers. 

HR system 

A new HR system was introduced in September 2017. Key data is now held in a single central place with 

staff able to access their personal information (including payslips and P60s) online and update their own 

basic information including contact details and equality information via a self-service portal. 

The HR system also provides the functionality to automate the majority of key employment processes 

and work is progressing on this, though there remains more to do in this regard and in terms of 

customising it to improve the overall user experience. 

Workforce engagement  

We use a number of communications channels to inform staff of matters that affect them and to raise 

concerns.  These include the following: 

• Joint Negotiating Committee with the University and College Union (UCU), our recognised 

trade union 

• Employee representative forum  
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• Equality, diversity and inclusion network to raise awareness, highlight barriers, celebrate 

where we are doing well and influence actions that can help further reduce the pay gap 

• Fortnightly staff update 

• Intranet 

• Regular briefing sessions, both at directorate level and organisation wide via ‘all hands’ 

briefings with the chief executive and location wide briefings 

• Targeted emails where a group of staff are specifically affected by an issue 

• Open consultation processes  

• Regular blogs, podcasts and webinars 

• Yammer Groups 

During the year discussions have been taking place with staff on how we can increase further employee 

engagement, ensure that all employees have a voice and have their say.  To support this, we launched 

an employee voice forum in Autumn 2018.  The forum will be available to all staff and has been designed 

and developed using the feedback from staff in engagement surveys, temperature checks and learning 

from the successes of our employee representative forum. The objective is to enable all employees to 

have a voice, and to share their concerns and views. The forum will be chaired by a member of the 

Executive Leadership team and views fed into the management board and the Jisc Board. This together 

with our equality, diversity and inclusion network we believe will better enable us to harness all voices to 

serve our members better and key contributors to greater involvement and higher level of engagement.   
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Responsibilities of the Board in relation to the Trustees’ Report  
The trustees (who are also directors of Jisc for the purposes of company law) are responsible for 

preparing the Trustees’ Report (including the Strategic Report) and the financial statements in 

accordance with applicable law and regulations. 

Company law requires the trustees to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that 

law, the trustees have prepared the financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally 

Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 102 “The 

Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland”) and applicable law. Under 

company law, the trustees must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they 

give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the charitable company and the Group and of the 

incoming resources and application of resources, including the income and expenditure, of the charitable 

Group for that period. In preparing these financial statements, the trustees are required to: 

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 

• observe the methods and principles in the Statement of Recommended Practice: Accounting and 

Reporting by Charities (2015); 

• state whether applicable United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 102, have been 

followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; 

• make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and 

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume 

that the charitable company will continue in business. 

The trustees are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and 

explain the charitable company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the 

financial position of the company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with 

the Companies Act 2006. 

The trustees are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking 

reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 

The trustees are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the company’s website. Legislation in 

the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from 

legislation in other jurisdictions. 

The Trustees’ responsibilities regarding the Office for Students5 grant reporting 

The Trustees are responsible for ensuring that all terms of The Funding Agreement have been complied 

with or varied in writing with the Office for Students.  The trustees are also responsible for providing 

relevant financial information to the Office for Students. 

In the case of each trustee in office at the date the Trustees’ Report is approved: 

• so far as the trustee is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the charitable 

company’s auditors are unaware; and 

                                                                    

5 Previously HEFCE (Higher Education Funding Council for England) 
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• they have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a director in order to make 

themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the charitable 

company’s auditors are aware of that information. 

Appointment of Independent Auditors 

Pursuant to Section 487 of the Companies Act 2006, the external auditors will be deemed to be 

reappointed and PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP will therefore continue in office.  A procurement process 

will be undertaken in summer 2019 to appoint external auditors for the 2019/20 audit.  

Approved and authorised for issue and signed on behalf of the Board by: 

 

Professor David Maguire, Jisc Chair 

 7 December 2018 
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Independent auditors’ report to the members of 
Jisc 
Report on the audit of the financial statements 

 

Opinion 
In our opinion, Jisc’s group financial statements and parent charitable company financial statements (the “financial 
statements”): 

• give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the parent charitable company’s affairs as at 
31 July 2018 and of the group’s incoming resources and application of resources, including its income 
and expenditure, and of the group’s cash flows, for the year then ended; 

• have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting 
Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland”, and applicable law); and 

• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. 

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Trustees’ Report and Financial Statements (the “Annual 
Report”), which comprise: the Consolidated and Charity Balance Sheets as at 31 July 2018; the Consolidated 
Statement of Financial Activities (including income and expenditure account) and the Consolidated Cash Flow 
Statement for the year then ended; and the notes to the financial statements. 

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)”) and applicable 
law. Our responsibilities under ISAs (UK) are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial statements section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Independence 

We remained independent of the parent charitable company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, which includes the FRC’s Ethical Standard and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

Conclusions relating to going concern 
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which ISAs (UK) require us to report to 
you when:  

• the trustees’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial 
statements is not appropriate; or 

• the trustees have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that 
may cast significant doubt about the group’s and parent charitable company’s ability to continue to 
adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date 
when the financial statements are authorised for issue. 

However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this statement is not a guarantee as to the 
group’s and parent charitable company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

Reporting on other information  
The other information comprises all of the information in the Annual Report other than the financial statements and 
our auditors’ report thereon. The trustees are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the financial 
statements does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except to 
the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report, any form of assurance thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in 
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our 
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knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify an apparent 
material inconsistency or material misstatement, we are required to perform procedures to conclude whether there 
is a material misstatement of the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based 
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report based on these responsibilities. 

Based on the responsibilities described above and our work undertaken in the course of the audit, ISAs (UK) 
require us also to report certain opinions and matters as described below. 

Strategic Report and Trustees’ Report 

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit the information given in the Trustees’ 
Report, including the Strategic Report, for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is 
consistent with the financial statements; and the Strategic Report and the Trustees’ Report have been prepared in 
accordance with applicable legal requirements. 

In addition, in light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and parent charitable company and their 
environment obtained in the course of the audit, we are required to report if we have identified any material 
misstatements in the Strategic Report and the Trustees’ Report. We have nothing to report in this respect. 

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit 

Responsibilities of the trustees for the financial statements 

As explained more fully in the Responsibilities of the Board in relation to the Trustees’ Report set out on pages 45 
to 46, the trustees are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable 
framework and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. The trustees are also responsible for such 
internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the trustees are responsible for assessing the group’s and parent charitable 
company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the trustees either intend to liquidate the group and parent 
charitable company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.  

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial 
Reporting Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors’ 
report. 

Use of this report 

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the charity’s members as a body in 
accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving 
these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is 
shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing. 
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Other required reporting 

Companies Act 2006 exception reporting 
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion: 

• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or 

• adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent charitable company or returns 
adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or 

• certain disclosures of trustees’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or 

• the parent charitable company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting 
records and returns. 

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility. 

 

Other voluntary reporting 

Opinion on regularity 
The directors are required to comply with a funding agreement with the Higher Education Funding Council for 
England (“HEFCE”) (now superseded by the Office for Students (“OfS”) and Research England (“RE”)) dated 1 
December 2012 (the “Funding Agreement”). We have been requested to undertake additional procedures in 
accordance with the OfS and RE Audit Code of Practice and to provide an opinion on regularity, as if Jisc were a 
higher education institution as defined under the Further and Higher Education Act 1992. 

In our opinion, in all material respects, the grants and other income received from the Funding Bodies (defined in 
the Funding Agreement) have been used for the purposes provided. 

  

 

 
Sasha Lewis (Senior Statutory Auditor) 
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors 
Southampton 
                                    2018 
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Activities (including income 
and expenditure account) for the year ended 31 July 2018  
 

 
 

Note 

Unrestricted 
funds 
2018 

Restricted 
funds 
2018 

Total 
Funds 

2018  

 Unrestricted 
funds 
2017 

Restricted 
funds 
2017 

Total 
Funds 
2017 

£’000 £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000 £’000 

INCOME  
   

   
 

Donations and grants 4 52,959 22,257 75,216  51,725 25,150 76,875 

Income from charitable activities 5 55,453 1,400 56,853  42,126 1,596 43,722 

Income from other trading  
activities 

 
6 

 
12,430 

 
228 

 
12,658 

  
11,802 

 
- 

 
11,802 

Investment income 7 367 - 367  568 - 568 

TOTAL INCOME  121,209 23,885 145,094  106,221 26,746 132,967 
        

 

EXPENDITURE        
 

Commercial trading operations  1,050 - 1,050  1,633 - 1,633 

Charitable activities 8 125,714 16,197 141,911  111,348 17,312 128,660 

Grants 11 2,781 298 3,079  1,983 531 2,514 

Other losses  148 - 148  195 - 195 

TOTAL EXPENDITURE  129,693 16,495 146,188  115,159 17,843 133,002 
        

 

Net (expenditure) / income 12 (8,484) 7,390 (1,094)  (8,938) 8,903 (35) 

Transfers between funds 22 9,016 (9,016) -  10,653 (10,653) - 

         

Net movement in funds for the year 532 (1,626) (1,094)  1,715 (1,750) (35) 

         

Reconciliation of funds  
   

   
 

Total Funds brought forward 23 84,254 17,586 101,840  82,539 19,336 101,875 
  

   
   

 

Total Funds carried forward  84,786 15,960 100,746  84,254 17,586 101,840 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.  
All results in the year to 31 July 2018 and in the prior year derive from continuing operations. 
  
The consolidated statement of financial activities includes all gains and losses for the year and includes the income and 
expenditure of the group. 
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Consolidated & Charity Balance Sheets as at 31 July 2018 
 

The Charity only net surplus for the year was £6,847k (2017: loss of £1,611k) – refer to Note 31. 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.  

The financial statements on pages 50 to 86 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board and signed on its behalf by: 

 

 

 

Dr Paul Feldman 
Chief Executive 
7 December 2018 
Registered number: 05747339 

 Group Group Charity Charity 
 
 

Note 

As at 
31/07/2018 

£’000 

As at 
31/07/2017 

£’000 

As at 
31/07/2018 

£’000 

As at 
31/07/2017 

£’000 
      
Fixed assets      
Intangible assets 15 4,530 6,421 - - 
Tangible assets 16 22,354 21,717 3,270 1,388 
Investments 17 605 350 25,994 25,739 
      

Total fixed assets  27,489 28,488 29,264 27,127 

      
Current assets      
Debtors  18 34,724 28,186 4,739 4,178 
Cash and cash equivalents 26 83,750 86,875 75,949 78,370 
      

Total current assets  118,474 115,061 80,688 82,548 
      
Liabilities       
Creditors: amounts falling due within one 
year 

 
19 

 
39,029 

 
35,944 

 
16,663 

 
23,665 

Provisions for liabilities 21 565 465 561 431 

Total liabilities  39,594 36,409 17,224 24,096 
      

Net current assets  78,880 78,652 63,464 58,452 

      
Total assets less current liabilities  106,369 107,140 92,728 85,579 
      
Provisions for liabilities: amounts falling 
due after one year 

21 5,623 5,300 5,569 5,267 

      

Net assets  100,746 101,840 87,159 80,312 

      
The funds of the Group / Charity:      
Restricted income funds 22 15,960 

 
17,586 9,886 

 
6,057 

Unrestricted income funds 23 84,786 84,254 77,273 74,255 
      

Total Group / Charity funds   100,746 101,840 87,159 80,312 
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement for the year ended 31 July 2018 
 

  
Note 

2018 
£’000 

 2017 
£’000 

Cash flows from operating activities:     

Net cash provided by operating activities 26 9,181  14,381 

     
Cash flows from investing activities:     
Interest received  7 367  568 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 16 (12,418)  (12,211) 
Purchase of investments 17 (255)  (350) 

Net cash used in investing activities  (12,306)  (11,993) 

     
Change in cash and cash equivalents in the reporting period  (3,125)  2,388 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the reporting 
period 

 86,875  84,487 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period  83,750  86,875 
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Notes to the financial statements   

1.      Statement of compliance 

The group and individual financial statements of Jisc have been prepared on a going concern basis 

under the historic cost convention in accordance with Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement 

of Recommended Practice applicable to charities preparing their financial statements in accordance with 

the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) (effective 1 

January 2015) - (“Charities SORP (FRS 102)”), the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK 

and Republic of Ireland (“FRS 102”) and the Companies Act 2006 and the Charities Act 2011.  

2.      Principal accounting policies 

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated and separate financial 

statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, 

unless otherwise stated. 

a) Basis of Preparation 

These consolidated and separate financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis, under the 

historical cost convention, as modified by the recognition of certain financial assets and liabilities 

measured at fair value.  Assets and liabilities are initially recognised at historical cost or transaction value 

unless otherwise stated in the relevant accounting policy note(s).  After reviewing the group's forecasts 

and projections, the Trustees have a reasonable expectation that the group has adequate resources to 

continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. The group therefore continues to adopt the 

going concern basis in preparing its consolidated financial statements. 

b) Group financial statements 

The consolidated financial statements and the consolidated cash flow statement include the financial 

activities of the charity, its wholly owned subsidiaries Jisc Services Limited and Jisc Commercial Limited, 

and its majority owned subsidiary Jisc Liberate Managed Services Limited up to 31 July 2018. Intra-

group transactions and balances are eliminated fully on consolidation. The proportion of equity not 

attributable to the group (‘non-controlling interests’) is recognised as a separate component of funds of 

the group.  Where non-controlling funds would give rise to an asset, the asset is only recognised to the 

extend the group has a legal right of recovery.  

A separate Statement of Financial Activities and Income and Expenditure Account for the charity has not 

been presented because the charity has taken advantage of the exemption afforded by section 408 of 

the Companies Act 2006. Jisc as a standalone company as permitted by FRS102 as a qualifying entity 

has taken advantage of the available exemption to not prepare a statement of cash flows [Section 7 of 

FRS102 and para 3.17 (d)]. 

c) Fund structure 

Restricted funds are funds which are to be used in accordance with specific restrictions imposed by the 

donor, such as where funding is for specific projects or is capital in nature.  Unrestricted funds comprise 

those funds which the charity is free to use for any purpose in furtherance of the charitable objects. 

Unrestricted funds include designated funds where the Trustees, at their discretion, have created a fund 

for a specific purpose. 
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 

2. Principal accounting policies (continued) 

d) Income 

Income is recognised when the group has entitlement to the funds, any performance conditions attached 

to the item(s) of income have been met, it is probable that the income will be received, and the amount 

can be measured reliably.  

Income from government and other grants, whether ‘capital’ grants or ‘revenue’ grants, is recognised 

when the group has entitlement to the funds, any performance conditions attached to the grants have 

been met, it is probable that the income will be received, and the amount can be measured reliably and 

is not deferred.   

Income for services, including licensing income and higher education subscriptions, is recognised over 

the period when the relevant service is provided, or in line with the work being performed, whichever is 

most appropriate.  

Interest income is recognised as earned. 

Income is deferred where services or goods issued to beneficiaries have not been or are partially 

provided.  In addition, performance-related grants that are conditional upon the delivery of a specific 

level of service have been deferred where the conditions have not yet been met.  

Grants that are capital in nature are recognised in accordance with the terms of relevant agreement and 

when either expenditure is incurred, or if an approved plan is already in place and the expectation of 

receipt is probable, or cash is received, whichever is soonest.  

e) Expenditure and irrecoverable VAT 

Expenditure is recognised once there is a legal or constructive obligation to make a payment to a third 

party, it is probable that settlement will be required, and the amount of the obligation can be measured 

reliably. All expenditure is accounted for on an accruals basis and has been classified under headings 

that aggregate all costs relating to that category of activity within the group. Expenditure is classified 

under the following activity headings:  

• Costs of commercial trading and their associated support costs.  

• Expenditure on charitable activities includes the costs of activities undertaken to further the 

purposes of the charity and their associated support costs.  

• Grants payable are payments made to third parties in the furtherance of the charitable objects 

of the group.  Single or multi-year grants are accounted for when either the recipient has a 

reasonable expectation that they will receive a grant and the group agrees to pay the grant 

without conditions, or the conditions attached to the grant are outside the control of the group. 

• Other expenditure represents those items not falling into any other heading. 

Irrecoverable VAT is charged against the expenditure category of resources expended for which it was 

incurred. 
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 

2. Principal accounting policies (continued) 

f) Allocation of overhead and support costs 

Support costs are those functions that assist the work of the group but do not directly undertake 

charitable activities. Support costs include back office costs, finance, personnel, payroll and governance 

costs which support Jisc’s projects and activities. These costs have been allocated between commercial 

trading operations and expenditure on charitable activities. 

 

g) Operating leases 

Leases that do not transfer all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as operating leases. 

Payments under operating leases are charged to the SOFA on a straight-line basis over the period of the 

lease.  

h) Lease incentives 

Incentives received to enter into an operating lease are credited to the SOFA, to reduce the lease 

expense, on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease. 

The Group has taken advantage of the exemption in respect of lease incentives on leases in existence 

on the date of transition to FRS 102 (1 August 2014) and continues to credit such lease incentives to the 

SOFA over the period to the first review date on which the rent is adjusted to market rates. 

i) Tangible fixed assets and depreciation 

All assets are capitalised and recorded at historic cost including any incidental costs of acquisition. 

Where appropriate, provision has been made for impairment in the value of tangible fixed assets. 

Depreciation is charged on a straight-line basis to write off the cost of the tangible fixed assets over their 

estimated useful life. 

• Fixtures and fittings – 10 years 

• Office equipment   – 3 years 

• Office furniture   – 10 years 

• Website    – 5 years 

• Network equipment  – 3 years 

Repairs, maintenance and minor inspection costs are expensed as incurred. 

Tangible assets are derecognised on disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected. On 

disposal, the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount is recognised in 

SOFA. 
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2. Principal accounting policies (continued) 

j) Intangible fixed assets and amortisation 

Intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. 

Amortisation is calculated, using the straight-line method, to allocate the depreciable amount of the 

assets to their residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:  

• Electronic content  – 10 years 

Amortisation is charged to the Statement of Financial Activities. 

Where factors, such as technological advancement or changes in market price, indicate that residual 

value or useful life have changed, the residual value, useful life or amortisation rate are amended 

prospectively to reflect the new circumstances.  

The assets are reviewed for impairment if the above factors indicate that the carrying amount may be 

impaired on an annual basis. 

Costs associated with maintaining computer software are recognised as an expense as incurred. 

Development costs that are directly attributable to the design and testing of identifiable and unique 

software products controlled by the Group are recognised as intangible assets when the following criteria 

are met: 

• it is technically feasible to complete the software so that it will be available for use; 

• management intends to complete the software and use or sell it; 

• there is an ability to use or sell the software;  

• it can be demonstrated how the software will generate probable future economic benefits; 

• adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or 

sell the software are available; and  

• the expenditure attributable to the software during its development can be reliably measured. 

Other development expenditures that do not meet these criteria are recognised as an expense as 

incurred.  

k) Investments 

Investments in subsidiaries and associates are stated at cost, less provision for impairment.  

An investment in a jointly controlled entity exists when there is a contractually agreed sharing of control 

over an economic activity of a separate legal entity, between Jisc and third party(s). A jointly controlled 

entity is initially recognised at the transaction price and subsequently adjusted for the investors’ share of 

the profit or loss. 
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 

2. Principal accounting policies (continued) 

l) Pensions 

The organisation participates in the Universities Superannuation Scheme (USS), a defined benefit 

scheme which is contracted out of the State Second Pension (S2P). The assets of the scheme are held 

in a separate Trustee-administered fund.  Due to the mutual nature of the scheme, the scheme’s assets 

are not hypothecated to individual institutions and a scheme-wide contribution rate is set. The 

organisation is therefore exposed to actuarial risks associated with other institutions’ employees and is 

unable to identify its share of the underlying assets and liabilities of the scheme on a consistent and 

reasonable basis and therefore, as required by FRS  102 “Retirement benefits”, accounts for the scheme 

as if it were a defined contribution scheme. As a result, the amount charged to the SOFA represents the 

contributions payable to the scheme in respect of the accounting period. 

A liability is recorded within provisions for any contractual commitment to fund past deficits within the 

multi-employer schemes as determined by the scheme management. The associated expense is 

recognised in the SOFA. 

m) Contingent liabilities 

In accordance with the Charities SORP (FRS102) contingent liabilities are disclosed for those grants, 

which do not represent liabilities, but where there is a possible obligation, which arises from past events, 

which will only be confirmed by one or more future events, not wholly within the Trustees’ control. 

n) Foreign currency 

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the 

time of the transaction. Foreign currency balances are translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at 

the balance sheet date. 

o) Debtors 

Trade and other debtors are recognised at the settlement amount due after any trade discount offered. 

Prepayments are valued at the amount prepaid net of any trade discounts due.  

p) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash at bank and cash in hand includes cash and short term highly liquid investments with a short 

maturity of three months or less from the date of acquisition or opening of the deposit or similar account.  

q) Creditors and provisions 

Creditors and provisions are recognised where the charity has a present obligation resulting from a past 

event that will probably result in the transfer of funds to a third party and the amount due to settle the 

obligation can be measured or estimated reliably. Creditors are recognised at their settlement amount 

after allowing for any trade discounts due.  Provisions are recognised at amortised cost.   
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 

2. Principal accounting policies (continued) 

r) Financial instruments  

Jisc only has financial assets and liabilities of a kind that qualify as basic financial instruments. Basic 

financial instruments are initially recognised at transaction value and subsequently measured at their 

amortised cost.  All financial assets and financial liabilities are carried at amortised cost. 

3. Critical accounting judgements and estimation uncertainty 

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other 

factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 

circumstances. 

a. Critical judgements in applying the entity’s accounting policies: 

(i) Multi-employer defined benefit pension scheme 

The organisation participates in the Universities Superannuation Scheme (USS), a defined benefit 

scheme which is contracted out of the State Second Pension (S2P). The assets of the scheme are 

held in a separate Trustee-administered fund.  Because of the mutual nature of the scheme, the 

scheme’s assets are not hypothecated to individual institutions, as in the judgement of the scheme’s 

actuary, this is not possible to do on a reasonable and consistent basis so a scheme-wide 

contribution rate is set. The organisation is therefore exposed to actuarial risks associated with other 

institutions’ employees and is unable to identify its share of the underlying assets and liabilities of 

the scheme on a consistent and reasonable basis and therefore accounts for the scheme as if it 

were a defined contribution scheme. See note 29 for further details.  

(ii) Timing of grant revenue recognition 

Revenue from restricted grants can vary in its terms and conditions, specified years to which it 

relates and cash payment profile. Judgement about the most appropriate financial year in which to 

recognise revenue can be required together with the amount of revenue to be recognised in that 

year, with reference to the specifications of a grant letter. 

b. Critical accounting estimates and assumptions 

The company makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting 

estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that 

have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 

within the next financial year are addressed below. 

(i) Useful economic life of tangible and intangible assets 

The annual depreciation charge for tangible and intangible assets is sensitive to changes in the 

estimated useful economic lives and residual values of the assets. The useful economic lives and 

residual values are re-assessed annually. They are amended when necessary to reflect current 

estimates, based on technological advancement, future investments, economic utilisation and the 

physical condition of the assets. See notes 15 and 16 for the carrying amount of the intangible and 

fixed assets respectively, and note 2(i) and 2(j) for the useful economic lives for each class of 

assets. 
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 

3. Critical accounting judgements and estimation uncertainty (continued) 

(ii) Impairment of debtors 

The company makes an estimate of the recoverable value of trade, intercompany and other debtors. 

When assessing impairment of trade and other debtors, management considers factors including 

the current credit rating of the debtor, the ageing profile of debtors and historical experience.  

(iii) Multi-employer defined benefit pension scheme 

The costs of the USS deficit recovery plans have been estimated based on a model devised by USS 

and the British Universities Finance Directors Group. The model uses the additional costs included 

in the deficit recovery plan, management’s judgement of estimated changes in staffing levels and 

pay increases, and is discounted based on corporate bond levels having a maturity of a similar 

length to the recovery plan. The scheme actuary reviews the funding of the USS every year and 

undertakes a formal actuarial valuation every three years, at which time the deficit recovery plan 

may be amended. 

(iv) Impairment of fixed asset investments 

In assessing whether the carrying value of fixed asset investments has suffered a permanent 

impairment, the company considers a number of indicators which include the comparing the market 

value of the underlying net assets to the cost of the investment, the trading history of the entity and 

the forecast cash flows of that entity.  
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 

4. Donations and grants 

During the year to 31 July 2018 £75,216k (2017: £76,875k) of funding was received from the United 

Kingdom funding bodies for higher and further education.  

 

 

 
Unrestricted   Restricted  

 2018 
Total  Unrestricted Restricted 

 2017 
Total  

 Funding Body:   £’000   £’000   £’000            £’000      £’000  £’000  

       
HEFCE/OfS/Research      
England  20,000   20,000   40,000         20,000  20,000  40,000  

BIS / DfE - England   20,000   -   20,000         18,499    3,100  21,599  

Scottish Funding Council   8,073   1,794   9,867           8,073    1,314  9,387  

HEFCW   2,001   65   2,066           2,001       125  2,126  
DEL / DfE Northern 
Ireland  1,410   336   1,746           1,410       493  1,903  

Welsh Government   1,475   62   1,537           1,742       118  1,860  

  52,959   22,257   75,216         51,725  25,150  76,875  

 

Of the total £75,216k (2017: £76,875k) of funding bodies’ grants received during the year, £52,959k 

(2017:  £51,725k) was unrestricted and £22,257k (2017: £25,150k) was restricted funding. 

Grant funding payments from the Office for Students (OfS) and Research England are new in 2017-18 

however they are the paying the Jisc grant previously received from HEFCE with effect from 1 April 

2018. The Engineering and Physical Science Research Council is paying the Jisc grant from Research 

England. 

5. Income from charitable activities 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Jisc 
Technology 

 
£’000 

Digital 
resources  

 
£’000 

Digital 
futures 

 
£’000 

Marketing 
and 

Comms   
£’000 

2018 
Total 

 
£’000 

 

Licensing income - 38,469 - - 38,469  
Service income 14,294 226 19 - 14,539  
Project contributions  1,996 833 224 - 3,053  
Events income - - - 390 390  
Consultancy income - 4 30 134 168  
Training Income 234 - - - 234  

 16,524 39,532 273 524 56,853  
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 5.  Income from charitable activities (continued) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Group is domiciled in the UK. Income for the year to 31 July 2018 from external customers that are 

non-UK based was £1,538k (2017: £1,781k) with the remainder generated in the UK. 

Of the above 2018 total, £55,453k was unrestricted (2017: £42,126k) and £1,400k restricted (2017: 

£1,596k). 

6. Income from other trading activities  

The group has received £12,658k (2017: £11,802k) of income from other activities, mostly arising from 

membership subscriptions totalling £10,767k (2017: £10,477k). 

7. Investment income 

All of the group’s investment income of £367k (2017: £568k) arises from money held in interest bearing 

deposit accounts. 

 

 Jisc 
Technology 

 
£’000 

Digital 
resources  

 
£’000 

Digital 
futures 

 
£’000 

Marketing 
and 

Comms   
£’000 

2017 
Total 

 
£’000 

 

Licensing income - 26,859 - - 26,859  
Service income 12,596 172 24 - 12,792  
Project contributions  2,240 923 161 - 3,324  
Events income - 12 104 451 567  
Consultancy income - 36 - 82 118  
Training Income 62 - - - 62  

 14,898 28,002 289 533 43,722  
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8. Charitable activities 

 Jisc 
Technology 

 
£’000 

Digital 
resources  

 
£’000 

Digital 
futures 

 
£’000 

Marketing 
and 

Comms   
£’000 

2018 
Total 

 
£’000 

 

Network operations & services 52,442 22 - - 52,464  
Content and acquisition  - 6,520 - - 6,520  
Support and liaison - - - 10,137 10,137  
Technical and development  3,539 2,899 9,570 - 16,008  
Other cost of sales - 690 - - 690  
Licensing payments  - 36,915 - - 36,915  
Governance Costs (note 9) 444 444 444 421 1,753  
Support costs (see note 10) 7,964 6,688 1,335 1,437 17,424  
 64,389 54,178 11,349 11,995 141,911  

 

 Jisc 
Technology 

 
£’000 

Digital 
resources  

 
£’000 

Digital 
futures 

 
£’000 

Marketing 
and Comms   

£’000 

2017 
Total 

 
£’000 

Network operations & services 54,778 15 - - 54,793 
Content and acquisition  - 6,832 - - 6,832 
Support and liaison - - - 9,432 9,432 
Technical and development  3,569 2,784 9,897 - 16,250 
Other cost of sales - 565 - - 565 
Licensing payments  - 25,229 - - 25,229 
Governance Costs (note 9) 418 418 418 420 1,674 
Support costs (see note 10) 7,163 4,349 1,215 1,158 13,885 

 65,928 40,192 11,530 11,010 128,660 

 

Of the above 2018 total £125,714k was unrestricted (2017: £111,348k) and £16,197k was restricted 

(2017: £17,312k). 

Expenses on Digital infrastructure and technology are the operating costs associated with the Janet 

network, network related services and development. Digital content and discovery is mainly the costs 

associated with the trading activities of Jisc Collections. Digital futures expenditure relates to activities on 

behalf of the sector undertaken in a co-design process. Value realisation expenditure relates to customer 

engagement and communications activities on behalf of the sector. 

All expenditure includes irrecoverable VAT, where it has been incurred.   
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9. Governance costs  

  2018 
£’000 

2017 
£’000 

Internal and external audit  90 224 
Senior management salaries  1,387 1,281 
Trustee expenses  4 17 
Support costs                        272  152 

  1,753 1,674 

The costs relating to the governance function are equally apportioned between the four key charitable 

activities undertaken in the year. 

10. Support costs of charitable activities 

  2018  
£’000 

2017 
£’000 

Wages and pension                    7,305   5,348  
Travel and subsistence                        623   441  
Consumables, post, printing, phone and stationery                       324   218  
Computer                     2,564   1,902  
Rent and rates                    3,858   2,799  
Temporary staff                       368   633  
Advertising                            -     1  
Consultancy and training                    1,675   1,812  
Insurances                         20   18  
Professional fees                       558   617  
Bank charges                           9   13  
Bad debt                           -     3  
Support service                       114   80  
Exchange gains and losses                           6   -    

                  17,424  13,885 

 

Support costs of Jisc are allocated where possible directly to the charitable activity and where this direct 

allocation is not possible costs are allocated in line with the number of direct staff working in each 

charitable activity type. Wages and pension costs include a liability for paid annual leave accrued but not 

taken of £677k (2017: £446k). 
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11. Grants  

 Jisc 
Technology 

  £’000 

Digital 
resources  

 
£’000 

Digital 
futures 

£’000 

2018 
Total 
£’000 

     

Grants paid to third parties  62 2,742 275 3,079 

 
 

    

 Jisc 
Technology 

£’000 

Digital 
resources  

£’000 

Digital 
futures 

£’000 

Marketing and 
 Comms   

£’000 

2017 
Total 
£’000 

      
Grants paid to third parties  54 1,902 513 45 2,514 

 

In 2018 grants totalling £32k (2017: £47k) were made to 7 individuals (2017: 13 individuals) during the 

year; all other grants were to institutions.  Of the total Grants paid to third parties during 2018, £2,781k 

were unrestricted (2017: £1,983k) and £298k were restricted (2017: £531k).  A detailed list of grants paid 

on a per institution basis can be found in Note 32 of these financial statements.   

12.   Net (expenditure) / income  

Net (expenditure) / income is stated after charging / (crediting)  

 2018 
£’000 

2017 
£’000 

Amortisation of intangible assets 1,891 2,145 
Depreciation of tangible assets 11,781 10,242 
Exchange differences 63 (74) 
Operating lease rentals: Property 1,757 1,100 
Loss on sale of tangible fixed assets - - 

During the year the Group obtained the following services from the Group’s auditors and its associates: 

 2018 
£’000 

2017 
£’000 

Audit of all entities and consolidated financial statements  108 94 

Total audit 108 94 
   
Tax compliance services 30 30 
Tax advisory services 42 23 

Services relating to taxation  72 53 
   
Other non-audit services 14 8 

   

Total  194 155 
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13.   Transactions with Trustees and the cost of key management personnel   

a. Remuneration and benefits 

Recipient 
2018 

£ 

2017 

£ 

Dr Paul Feldman 190,000 170,000 

Professor David Maguire 12,000 12,000 

 202,000 182,000 

 

The remuneration of Dr Paul Feldman and Professor David Maguire are for their roles as Chief 

Executive Officer and Chair respectively, rather than as Trustees. The level of remuneration has been 

approved by the Remuneration committee, and the articles of association of Jisc give express authority 

for their employment.  

The charity Trustees were not paid nor received any other benefits from employment with Jisc or its 

subsidiaries in the year (2017: £nil); neither were they paid for professional or other services supplied to 

the charity (2017: £nil). 

b. Reimbursement of expenses 

Expenses were paid to 10 (2017: 8) Trustees during the year. Below is a breakdown by expenditure 

type: 

 2018 

£ 

2017 

£ 

Travel and subsistence 4,405 6,891 

 4,405 6,891 
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13. Transactions with Trustees and the cost of key management (continued) 

 

c. Key management personnel 

The key management personnel of the Group comprise the Trustees, the Chief Executive, and 9 (2017: 

8) members of Executive Leadership Team. The total remuneration and employee benefits of the key 

management personnel of the Group were £1,387,139 (2017: £1,280,852).  

Remuneration and pension contributions paid to members of the Executive Leadership Team during the 

year by role performed are shown below: 

 

14. Staff and wages 

In addition, temporary staff costs of £372,264 (2017: £709,452) for the group were incurred during the 

year.   

 

2018 2017

Role Remuneration

 

Employer 

Pension Total Remuneration

 Employer 

Pension Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Chief executive 190,000         -           190,000     170,000         -            170,000       

Deputy chief executive and chief operating officer 122,100         27,489     149,589     118,800         26,950      145,750       

Executive director Janet 117,573         19,786     137,359     112,229         19,239      131,468       

Executive director Jisc technologies 117,600         19,656     137,256     113,400         18,900      132,300       

Executive director member engagement Started 03/07/2017 115,000         20,700     135,700     9,583             1,725        11,308         

Chief financial officer 115,500         19,270     134,770     113,400         18,900      132,300       

Chief innovation officer 115,500         19,270     134,770     110,250         18,900      129,150       

Executive director digital resources 111,000         18,360     129,360     102,727         18,000      120,727       

Executive director marketing and communications 101,650         17,442     119,092     95,903           17,101      113,004       

Group chief technology officer Started 04/12/2017 107,244         -           107,244     -                 -            -               

Chair of the Jisc Board 12,000           -           12,000       12,000           -            12,000         

Executive director, sales and customer relationships Left  31/07/2017 -                 -           -             179,960         2,887        182,847       

1,225,167      161,973   1,387,140  1,138,252      142,602    1,280,854    

The remuneration policy for the executive leadership team is the same as the rest of the Jisc group (i.e. it is related to performance with increments ranging 

from 0% to the lowest performers to 4.0% for top performers).

The annual increase in total executive leadership remuneration was 8.3% and this was higher than individual pay awards due to changes in the membership

of the executive leadership team.  Remuneration also includes bonus payments. 

In the year to 31 July 2018, the remuneration of the Chief executive equates to 4.1 times the mean gross pay of Jisc group employees.  

 Group Charity 

 
 

2018 
£’000 

2017 
£’000 

2018 
£’000 

2017 
£’000 

Wages and salaries 25,734 23,368 18,714  15,875  
Social security costs 2,559 2,331 1,852  1,582  
Other pension costs 4,327 4,207 3,204  2,958  
Redundancy and termination payments 73 308 73  308  

  32,693 30,214 23,843  20,723  



Jisc Trustees’ Report and Financial Statements 

Year ended 31 July 2018  

Jisc Trustees’ Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 July 2018                                                                                                                      67 

Notes to the financial statements (continued)  

14.  Staff and wages (continued) 

The number of staff and gross salary and emoluments of staff whose remuneration was over £60,000 

were in the following ranges: 

 
2018 2017 

£60,000 - £69,999 21 16 
£70,000 - £79,999 21 12 
£80,000 - £89,999 4 2 
£90,000 - £99,999 2 1 
£100,000 - £109,999 5 5 
£110,000 - £119,999 2 1 
£120,000 - £129,999 1 - 
£160,000 - £169,999 - 1 
£170,000 - £179,999 - 2 
£190,000 - £199,999 1 - 

 57 40 

 

The number of staff whose remuneration was over £60,000 to whom retirement benefits are accruing 

under: 

 2018 2017 

Money purchase schemes 1 1 
Defined benefit schemes 54 38 

 55 39 

By activity, the average monthly number of persons employed by the group and charity during the year 

is: 

 Group Charity 

 2018 2017 2018 2017 

Management 69 62 63 57 
Technical 389 367 254 225 

Administrative                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   98 92 95 88 

 556 521 412 370 

Staff numbers have been reported on the basis of full-time equivalent hours.  
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15. Intangible assets 

Group  

 Rights to 
electronic 

content 
£’000 

Cost   
As at 1 August 2017 21,337 

As at 31 July 2018 21,337 

  
Accumulated amortisation  
As at 1 August 2017 14,916 
Charge for the year 1,891 

As at 31 July 2018 16,807 

  

As at 31 July 2017 6,421 

  

As at 31 July 2018 4,530 

Assets were assessed for impairment indicators in the year. No impairment indicators were noted. 
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16. Tangible assets  

Group 

 

Network 
equipment 

 
£’000 

Office 
Equipment 

 
£’000 

Office 
Furniture 

 
£’000 

Fixtures 
and 

fittings 
£’000 

Website 
 
 

£’000 

Total 
 
 

£’000 

Cost        

As at 1 August 2017  41,609   1,831   639   3,333   109  47,521 

Additions  9,615 195 344 2,264 - 12,418 

Disposals (2,339) - - (1,519) - (3,858) 

As at 31 July 2018 48,885 2,026 983 4,078 109 56,081 

       

Accumulated Depreciation       

As at 1 August 2017  21,280   1,239   317   2,859   109  25,804 

Charge for the year 10,860 365 99 457 - 11,781 

Eliminated on disposal (2,339) - - (1,519) - (3,858) 

As at 31 July 2018  29,801   1,604   416   1,797   109   33,727 

       
Net book value at 31 July 
2017 

 
 20,329  

 
 592  

  
322  

 
 474  

 
 -    

 
21,717 

Net book value at 31 July 
2018 

  
19,084  

 
 422 

  
567 

  
2,281  

 
- 

 
22,354 

 

Charity 

 Office 
Equipment 

 £’000 

 Office 
Furniture 

£’000 

 Fixtures and 
Fittings  

£’000 

 Total 
 

£’000 

Cost         

As at 1 August 2017 3,183  886  3,814  7,883 

Additions 195  344  2,264  2,803 

Disposals -  -  (1,519)  (1,519) 

As at 31 July 2018 3,378  1,230  4,559  9,167 

        

Accumulated Depreciation        

As at 1 August 2017 2,591  564  3,340  6,495 

Charge for the year 365  99  457  921 

Eliminated on disposal  -  -  (1,519)  (1,519) 

As at 31 July 2018 2,956  663  2,278  5,897 

        

Net book value as at 31 July 
2017 

 
592 

 
 

322 
 

 
474 

 
 

1,388 

Net book value as at 31 July 
2018 

 
422 

  
567 

  
2,281 

 
 

3,270 

  



Jisc Trustees’ Report and Financial Statements 

Year ended 31 July 2018  

Jisc Trustees’ Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 July 2018                                                                                                                      70 

Notes to the financial statements (continued)  

17. Investments 

Group 

  

  Total 

    

  £’000 

 
As at 1 August 2017 

  
 

350 

Additions   255 

As at 31 July 2018    605 

 

Charity 
 Total  

 
 

£’000 
  
As at 1 August 2017 25,739 
Additions 255 

As at 31 July 2018 25,994 

Jisc holds these investments as part of its charitable activities. The directors believe that the carrying 

value of the investments is supported by their underlying net assets. 

Throughout the year, Jisc held investments in its subsidiaries, Jisc Services Limited and Jisc 

Commercial Limited. 

During the year, Jisc acquired an 89.57% stake in Jisc Liberate Managed Services Limited (JLMSL) for 

£89.  This company’s results have been consolidated with the group’s results.  

During the year Jisc also acquired the following interests: 

A 22% stake in Unitu Limited for £200k and a 16.9% stake in Causaly Inc for £20k. These investments 

and that in Placer Limited (formerly Student Work Placement Solutions Limited) accounted for at cost 

and as investments in a jointly controlled entity.  In addition, Jisc acquired a 2.15% stake in Datzar Inc 

for £35k which has been accounted for at cost. 

 

The registered office addresses of all the charity’s investments are: 

Name   Registered office address 

Jisc Services Limited  One Castlepark, Tower Hill, Bristol, BS2 0JA 
Jisc Commercial Limited One Castlepark, Tower Hill, Bristol, BS2 0JA 
Jisc Liberate Managed Services Limited One Castlepark, Tower Hill, Bristol, BS2 0JA 
Unitu Limited Unit 4, Bramber Road, London, W14 9PW 
Placer Limited Studio 10 Tiger House, Burton Street, London, WC1H 9BY 
Datzar Inc 1311 Vine Street, Cincinnati 45202 USA 
Causaly Inc 2035 Sunset Lake Road, Suite B-2, Newark, 19702 USA 
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17. Investments (continued) 

The charity holds greater than 20% interests in the following companies: 

 
Country of 
registration 

Activity 

% Holding 
of Issued 

Share 
Capital or 

guarantees 

Turnover 
 
 
 

£’000 

Expenditure 
interest and 

tax 
 

£’000 

Operating 
surplus / 
(deficit) 

 
£’000 

Assets 
 
 
 

£’000 

Liabilities 
 
 
 

£’000 

Funds 
 
 
 

£’000 

Jisc 
Services 
Limited  

England 
& Wales 

Development 
and 
maintenance of 
the Janet 
network and 
connected 
services and 
provision of 
digital content 
for the 
education and 
research sector 

100% 112,267 (112,008) 259 66,520 (59,526) 6,994 

 
Jisc 
Commercial 
Limited 

 
England 
& Wales 

 
Provides public 
enterprise with 
access to 
JISC’s 
infrastructure 

 
100% 

 
1,551 

 
(1,299) 

 
252 

 
445 

 
(2,048) 

 
(1,603) 

 
Placer 
Limited 

 
England 
& Wales 

 
Provides a 
national 
platform for 
student work 
placements 

 
36.8% 

 
92 

 
(647) 

 
(555) 

 
61 

 
(16) 

 
45 

 
Jisc Liberate 
Managed 
Services 
Limited 

 
England 
& Wales 

 
Provides 
information 
technology 
service 
activities 

 
89.57% 

 
- 

 
(452) 

 
(452) 

 
9 

 
(353) 

 
(344) 

 
Unitu 
Limited  

 
England 
& Wales 

 
Provides 
information 
technology 
service 
activities 

 
22% 

 
41 

 
(64) 

 
(23) 

 
175 

 
(198) 

 
(23) 
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18. Debtors 

 

 Group  Charity 
 As at 

31/07/2018 
£’000 

 As at 
31/07/2017 

£’000 

 As at 
31/07/2018 

£’000 

 As at 
31/07/2017 

£’000 

Trade debtors  6,104  3,782  478   413  
Amounts owed by group 
undertakings - 

  
- 

  
1,352 

  
1,124  

Other debtors  958   507   773   501 
Prepayments  25,847   19,021   1,525   1,344  
Accrued income 1,815   4,876   611   796  

 34,724  28,186  4,739  4,178 

 

Amounts owed by group undertakings: 

 Charity 
 As at 

31/07/2018 
£’000 

 As at 
31/07/2017 

£’000 

Jisc Commercial Limited  1,352  1,124 
Jisc Liberate Managed Services Limited -  - 

 1,352  1,124 

Included in the Jisc Commercial Limited total above is an intercompany loan with a balance at the end of 

the year of £1,250k (2017: £750k). This loan carries an interest rate of 4% above the UK base rate and 

each drawing of the loan is repayable within 3 years of the relevant drawing date.  

In 2017, a provision of £750k was recognised in the Charity against the amount owed from Jisc 

Commercial Limited. The Jisc Commercial Limited balance shown above was net of this provision. This 

provision was reversed during the current year. 

At the end of the year, Jisc Liberate Managed Services Limited owed Jisc £287k (2017: £nil).  This loan 

carries an interest rate of 4% above the UK base rate and each drawing of the loan is repayable within 3 

years of the relevant drawing date.  A provision for the full amount owing has been recognised at the 

year end. The Jisc Liberate Managed Services Limited shown above is net of the provision.   

All other amounts are unsecured, interest free, have no fixed date of repayment and are repayable on 

demand. 

No provisions for impairment are recognised against Group or Charity trade debtors (2017: £nil). 

Trade debtors and amounts owed by group are presented at their amortised cost. 
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19. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 

 Group  Charity 

 As at 
31/07/2018 

£’000 

 As at 
31/07/2017 

£’000 

 As at 
31/07/2018 

£’000 

 As at 
31/07/2017 

£’000 

Trade creditors  3,222   9,351   174   1,152  
Amounts owed to group 
undertakings 

 
- 

  
- 

  
3,937 

  
1,211 

Other taxation & social security  699   342   694   654  
Other creditors 579   864   578   861  
Accruals 10,198   11,863   10,304   18,479  
Deferred Income (see note 220) 24,331   13,524   976   1,308  

 39,029  35,944  16,663  23,665 

Included within other creditors is an amount owed to pension funds of £525k (2017: £341k).  

Trade creditors and amounts owed to group are presented at their amortised cost. 

Amounts owed to group undertakings: 

 Charity 
 As at 

31/07/2018 
£’000 

 As at 
31/07/2017 

£’000 

Jisc Services Limited 3,937  1,211 

 3,937  1,211 

Amounts owed to group undertakings are unsecured, interest free, have no fixed date of repayment and 

are repayable on demand. 

20. Deferred income  

Income has been deferred where services or goods issued to beneficiaries have not been or are partially 

provided.  In addition, performance-related grants that are conditional upon the delivery of a specific 

level of service have been deferred where the conditions had not yet been met. 

 Group  Charity 
 As at 

31/07/2018 
£’000 

 As at 
31/07/2017 

£’000 

 As at 
31/07/2018 

£’000 

 As at 
31/07/2017 

£’000 

Deferred income brought forward 13,524  15,149  1,308  1,361 
Released in year (13,524)  (15,149)  (1,308)  (1,361) 
Deferred in year 24,331  13,524  976  1,308 

 24,331  13,524  976  1,308 
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21. Provision for liabilities 

 Group  Charity 
 As at 

31/07/2018 
£’000 

 As at 
31/07/2017 

£’000 

 As at 
31/07/2018 

£’000 

 As at 
31/07/2017 

£’000 

Pension provision (Note 29) 6,094  5,765  6,036  5,698 
Other provisions 94  -  94  - 

 6,188  5,765  6,130  5,698 

  The above is analysed as follows: 

Due within one year  565  465  561  431 
Due after more than one year 5,623  5,300  5,569  5,267 

 6,188  5,765  6,130  5,698 

Pension provision 
The pension provision represents the group and charity recognising a liability in relation to its contractual 

obligation to contribute to covering the USS deficit.  

The pension provision arises as follows: 

 Group  Charity 
 As at 

31/07/2018 
£’000 

 As at 
31/07/2017 

£’000 

 As at 
31/07/2018 

£’000 

 As at 
31/07/2017 

£’000 

Due within one year 471  465  467  431 
Due after more than one year 5,623  5,300  5,569  5,267 

 6,094  5,765  6,036  5,698 

 

The prior year figures for provisions for both the Group and the Charity have been changed to reflect the 

split between amounts due within one year and amounts due after more than one year. 

Other provisions 

 Group  Charity 
 As at 

31/07/2018 
£’000 

 As at 
31/07/2017 

£’000 

 As at 
31/07/2018 

£’000 

 As at 
31/07/2017 

£’000 

Brought forward -  410  -  410 
Additions 94  -  94  - 
Utilised in year -  (410)  -  (410) 

Balance carried forward 94  -  94  - 

Provision has been made for property lease dilapidations. 

Last year’s provision was in respect of costs relating to Jisc’s restructuring of its Sales and customer 

relations and Marketing and communications directorates. The provision was fully utilised during the last 

financial year. 
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22. Restricted income funds 

Group  

  2018  2017 
  £’000  £’000 

Balance brought forward   17,586  19,336 
Incoming resources  23,885  26,746 
Resources expended  (16,495)  (17,843) 
Fixed assets purchased and transferred to unrestricted funds  (9,016)  (10,653) 

Balance to carry forward  15,960  17,586 

 

Charity 

  2018  2017 
  £’000   £’000 

Balance brought forward   6,057  5,535 
Incoming resources  23,551  26,719 
Resources expended  (19,722)  (26,197) 

Balance to carry forward   9,886  6,057 

Restricted balances are held in cash. The cash is held within the subsidiary company bank accounts as 

during the financial year it acted as a central treasury management facility.  

Analysis of group restricted funds by type of purpose:   

  2018  2017 
  £’000  £’000 

General capital funds   5,489  6,278 
Electronic infrastructure  2,282  4,052 
Regional network funds  7,611  3,721 
Network upgrade fund  -  2,719 
Further education project funds  578  614 
Other restricted funds  -  202 

Total restricted funds  15,960  17,586 

 

 

General capital funds are held for future capital project spend.  

Electronic infrastructure funds relate to specifically identified high bandwidth network upgrades. 

Network upgrade funds were related to Janet’s mid-term upgrades and have now been completed. 

Regional network funds relate to nation-specific network capital improvements. 

Further education project funds are restricted to FE specific capital project spend. 
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23. Unrestricted income funds 

Group 

 

Total General 
unrestricted 

fund 

Designated funds 

Grant funded 

assets 

Paid 

prepayments 

Pension 

contribution 

Restructuring 

fund 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Balance brought 

forward on 1 August 

2017 

84,254 46,658 27,225 4,923 4,548 900 

Net expenditure  (8,484) (8,484) - - - - 

Transfers to / (from)  

general unrestricted to 

designated 

- 1,319 (1,330) 413 (329) (73) 

Transferred from 

restricted 

9,016 9,016 - - - - 

Balance to carry 

forward on 31 July 

2018 

84,786 48,509 25,895 5,336 4,219 827 

 

Charity 
 Total 

 
General 

unrestricted 
fund 

Designated funds 

Grant funded 

assets 

Paid 

prepayments 

Pension 

contribution 

Restructuring 

fund 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Balance brought 

forward on 1 August 

2017 

74,255 68,333 474 - 4,548 900 

Net income 3,018 3,018 - - - - 

Transfers (from)/to 

general unrestricted to 

designated 

- (1,396) 1,807 - (338) (73) 

Balance to carry 

forward on 31 July 

2018 

77,273 69,955 2,281 - 4,210 827 

The designated fund labelled “Grant funded assets” reflects the net book value of assets purchased 

using grants.  

The designated fund labelled paid prepayments reflects the value of the prepayments which had been 

paid at the year-end where this income had been deferred in the subsidiary Jisc Services Limited under 

UK GAAP.  The pension fund is designated to offset potential additional increases in employer 

contributions to the USS defined benefit pension schemes of which Jisc is a member. 

The restructuring fund is designated for future restructuring expenditure across the group.  
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24. Analysis of net assets between funds  

Group 
Unrestricted 

Funds 
Restricted  

Funds  
Total  Unrestricted 

Funds 
Restricted 

Funds 
Total 

 £’000 £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000 £’000 

2018 2018 2018 2017 2017 2017 
        

Fixed assets 27,489 - 27,489  28,488 - 28,488 

Current 
assets 

102,514 15,960 118,474  97,475 17,586 115,061 

Current 
liabilities 

(39,594) - (39,594)  (36,409) - (36,409) 

Non-current 
liabilities 

(5,623) - (5,623) 
 

(5,300) - (5,300) 

Total  84,786 15,960 100,746  84,254 17,586 101,840 

 

Charity 
Unrestricted 

Funds 
Restricted  

Funds  
Total  Unrestricted 

Funds 
Restricted 

Funds 
Total 

 £’000 £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000 £’000 

2018 2018 2018 2017 2017 2017 
        

Fixed assets 29,264 - 29,264  27,127 - 27,127 

Current assets 70,802 9,886 80,668  76,491 6,057 82,548 

Current liabilities (17,224) - (17,224)  (24,096) - (24,096) 

Non-current 
liabilities 

(5,569) - (5,569) 

 

(5,267) - (5,267) 

Total  77,273 9,886 87,159  74,255 6,057 80,312 

 

25. Operating lease commitments 

The Group had the following future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases for 

each of the following periods: 

 Group  Charity 
 As at 

31/07/2018 
£’000 

 As at 
31/07/2017 

£’000 

 As at 
31/07/2018 

£’000 

 As at 
31/07/2017 

£’000 

Land and buildings        
Not later than one year 1,227   1,133   967   949  
Later than one year and not later 
than five years 

5,377   2,061   4,814   1,479  

Later than five years 3,578   275   3,578   275  

 10,182   3,469   9,359   2,703  
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26. Reconciliation of (expenditure) / income to net cash inflow from operating activities 

 2018 
£’000 

2017 
£’000 

Net expenditure for the reporting period  
(as per Statement of Financial Activities) 

(1,094) (35) 

Adjustments for:   
Interest (367) (568) 
Depreciation on tangible fixed assets 11,781 10,242 
Amortisation of intangible assets 1,891 2,145 
(Increase) in debtors (6,538) (39) 
Increase in creditors and provisions 3,508 2,636 
   

Net cash provided by operating activities 9,181 14,381 

Analysis of net funds 

Group As at 31 July 
2018 
£’000 

As at 31 July 
2017 
£’000 

   
Cash at bank and in hand 9,968 9,394 
Cash equivalents 73,782 77,481 

Total cash and cash equivalents 83,750 86,875 

 

Charity As at 31 July 
2018 
£’000 

As at 31 July 
2017 
£’000 

   
Cash at bank and in hand 2,167 889 
Cash equivalents 73,782 77,481 

Total cash and cash equivalents 75,949 78,370 

 

27. Members Liability  

Jisc is a charitable company limited by guarantee (CLG).  The constitution allows for two classes of 

membership. One class comprises Representative Members, which includes the original members and 

guarantors - the Association of Colleges, GuildHE and Universities UK.  Each of these Representative 

Members holds 30% of the voting rights.  The other class of membership, in place from 1 August 2014, 

comprises Institutional Members, who together hold 10% of the voting rights. The liability of each 

member (both Institutional and Representative) is limited to a maximum of £1. This liability will apply for 

the duration of membership of the charitable company and for one year beyond the end of membership.  
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28. Related Parties  

Year ended 31 July 
2018 

Jisc Services Ltd Jisc Grants Balance sheet  

 Income Expenditure Income Expenditure Expenditure Debtors Creditors  

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000  

Abertay University  83  - 12  - - - 43   

Higher Education 
Academy 

- - 10  1  - 12  - 
a 

Birkbeck College 99  - 50  - - 2  64  b 

Cogeco Peer 1 - - - - - 2  - c 

EPSRC - - 677  - - 1  - a 

Forth Valley College  4  - - - - - -  

GEANT 941  1,918  - 1  - - -  

Guild HE - 2  - - - - -  

HEFCW  - - 2,076  - - - -  

HESA Ltd - - 47  6  1,000  20  600  d 

Higher Education 
Policy Institute (HEPI) 

- - - 13  - - - 
 

Jisc Commercial 
Limited 

- - 101  - - - - 
 

Jisc Services Limited - - 27,266  - 45,761  - -  

Lancaster University  495  - 99  - - 51  273  e 

National Science 
Museum 

8  - - - - - 6  
 

Oxford Brookes 
University  

157  - 73  - - 15  90  
f 

Painless Security LLC - 401  - 158  - - -  

Placer Ltd - - 8  - - - -  

Richmond Upn Thames 
College  

6  - 1  - - 2  3  
 

Royal Holloway, 
University of London  

202  - 65  - - 31  140  
g 

Shiboleth Consortium  - 38  - - 62  - -  

Staffordshire University  106  29  37  - - -  37   

Universities UK - - 2  18  - - -  

University of Greenwich 112  - 82  2  - 8  53  h 

University of London  15  2  48  - 15  9  27  i 

University of Oxford 674  33  459  17  2  1  362   

 2,902  2,423  31,113  216  46,840  154  1,698   

 
Footnotes 
The above group debtor and creditor balances relate wholly to Jisc Services Limited unless otherwise stated below: 
a) Jisc debtor or creditor only 
b) Birkbeck College creditor of £64k includes a Jisc creditor of £2k 

c) Jisc Commercial Ltd has related party transactions of £16k of income with Cogeco Peer 1, including a debtor 
balance of £2k. 

d) HESA Ltd (Higher Education Statistics Agency Ltd) debtors and creditors are with Jisc only.  The £600k 
represents further grant payments expected to be paid to HESA Ltd. 
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28. Related Parties (continued) 

e) Lancaster University debtor of £51k includes a Jisc debtor of £2k 
f) Oxford Brookes University creditor of £90k includes a Jisc creditor of £3k. 
g) Royal Holloway creditor of £140k includes a Jisc creditor of £2k. 
h) University of Greenwich creditor of £53k includes a Jisc creditor of £3k. 
i) University of London creditor of £27k includes a Jisc creditor of £3k. 

 

 

Year ended 31 July 
2017 

Jisc Services Ltd Jisc Grants Balance sheet  

 Income Expenditure Income Expenditure Expenditure Debtors Creditors  

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000  

Abertay University 3  - 8  1  - - 1   

AQA - - - 1  - - -  

Association of Colleges - - - 46  - - -  

Birkbeck College 100  10  39  1  - 12  43  a 

Buckinghamshire New 
University 

74  - 23  - - -  21  
 

EPRSC - - 1  - - - -  

Forth Valley College  4  - - - - - -  

HEFCW  3  - 2,126  - - - -  

HESA Ltd - - 58  28  - 9  - b 

Higher Education 
Policy Institute (HEPI) 

- - - 16  - - - 
 

Jisc Commercial 
Limited 

- - 178  - - - - 
 

Jisc Services Limited - - 18,303  - 50,551  - -  

Lancaster University  361  - 89  - 54  11  169  c 

National Science 
Museum 

7  - - - - - 6  
 

Oxford Brookes 
University  

124  - 58  - - 27  65  
d 

Placer Ltd - - 1 - -    

Richmond Upn Thames 
College  

7  - - - - - 4  
 

Royal Holloway, 
University of London  

123  - 64  - - 10  49  
e 

School of Hygeine & 
Tropical Medicine 

27  - 58  - - - 12  
f 

Staffordshire University  95  - 39  - - 22  21   

University of Greenwich 67  9  65  3  - 9  17  g 

University of Hull 338  - 58  - - 3  119  h 

University of London  39  - 39  - - -  7  i 

University of Oxford 399  42  506  4  40  19  214  j 

Universities UK 1  - - 18  - - -  

 1,772  61  21,713  118  50,645  122  748   
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28.      Related parties (continued) 
 
Footnotes 
The above group debtor and creditor balances relate wholly to Jisc Services Limited unless otherwise stated below: 
a) Birkbeck College £12k debtor includes a Jisc debtor of £2k, and the £43k creditor includes a Jisc creditor of 

£8k. 
b) HESA Ltd debtor relates only to Jisc. 
c) Lancaster University creditor of £169k includes a £3k Jisc creditor, 
d) Oxford Brookes University creditor of £65k includes a £5k Jisc creditor. 
e) Royal Holloway, University of London creditor of £49k, includes a £4k Jisc creditor. 
f) School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine creditor of £12k includes a £5k Jisc creditor 
g) University of Greenwich creditor of £17k includes a £4k Jisc creditor. 
h) University of Hull creditor of £119k includes a £2k Jisc creditor 
i) University of London creditor of £7k includes a £4k Jisc creditor 
j) University of Oxford debtor of £19k includes a £2k Jisc debtor, the creditor of £214k includes a £3k Jisc 

creditor. 

 

The institutions, suppliers and customers shown within the note have been declared as interests by the 

Trustees of Jisc, members of Executive Leadership Team and the Board of directors of its subsidiaries. 

In addition to the above, during the year, Jisc Liberate Managed Services Limited (JLMSL) was charged 

£138k in respect of management charges from Jisc Services Limited and £5k was charged to Jisc 

Services Limited from JLMSL.  £36 was charged as interest on the loan by from Jisc. 

Included in the related party table above are the following transactions with Charity’s subsidiaries: 

- Jisc Commercial Limited 

During the year Jisc received £34k (2016-17: £115k) of income from Jisc Commercial Limited in 

recharges for providing corporate services. Jisc Commercial Limited was also charged £67k (2016-17: 

£63k) of interest on its intercompany loan. 

- Jisc Services Limited 

Jisc paid grants totalling £45,761k (2016-17: £50,551k) to Jisc Services Limited during the year. In 

addition, Jisc charged Jisc Services Limited £18,694k (2016-17: £9,436k) of management charges under 

the 2015 Business Transfer Agreement covering costs for a variety of services. Finally, Jisc received 

from Jisc Services Limited £8,572k (2017: £8,867k) for staff members providing services to Jisc Services 

Limited. 

- Jisc Liberate Managed Services Limited 

Amounts due from and amounts due to group companies are presented in notes 18 and 19. 
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29. Pension 

The company participates in the Universities Superannuation Scheme (the scheme). The assets of the 

scheme are held in a separate Trustee-administered fund.  The company is required to contribute a 

specified percentage of payroll costs to the pension scheme to fund the benefits payable to the 

company’s employees.  In 2018, the percentage was 18% (2017: 18%).  The company is unable  to 

identify  its  share  of  the  underlying  assets  and  liabilities  of  the  scheme  on  a  consistent and  

reasonable basis and therefore, as required by FRS 102,  accounts for the scheme as if it were a defined 

contribution scheme. Contributions in 2018 were £4,055k (2017: £3,765k).  However, as the USS 

scheme is in deficit, the group recognises a liability in relation to its contractual obligation to contribute to 

covering this deficit. A provision of £6,094k (2017: £5,765k) was recognised on the group’s balance 

sheet, a provision of £6,036k (2017: £5,698k) was recognised on the company’s balance sheet. 

The following table shows the movement in the USS pension provision: 

 Group  Charity 
 As at 

31/07/2018 
£’000 

 As at 
31/07/2017 

£’000 

 As at 
31/07/2018 

£’000 

 As at 
31/07/2017 

£’000 

Brought forward 5,765  5,478  5,698  5,390 
Deficit contribution paid (469)  (453)  (465)  (448) 
Unwinding of discount 148  197  146  194 
Change in expected contributions 650  543  657  562 

Balance carried forward 6,094  5,765  6,036  5,698 

The deficit contribution paid represents Jisc’s contribution to the reduction of the USS pension deficit per 

annum. 

The change in expected contributions represents changes from past expectations in calculating Jisc 

share of the liability. This includes changes in-year staff numbers and expected future wage changes 

due to future staff number changes and inflation and the discount rate. 

The 2014 valuation was the third valuation for USS under the scheme-specific funding regime introduced 

by the Pensions Act 2004, which requires schemes to adopt a statutory funding objective, which is to 

have sufficient and appropriate assets to cover their technical provisions. At the valuation date, the value 

of the assets of the scheme was £41.6 billion and the value of the scheme’s technical provisions was 

£46.9 billion indicating a shortfall of £5.3 billion. These figures will be revised once the 2017 Scheme 

Valuation is complete.  

Defined benefit liability numbers for the scheme under FRS102 have been produced using the following 

assumptions at 31 March 2017 and 2018:  

 2018 2017 

Discount rate 2.64% 2.57% 

Pensionable salary growth n/a n/a 

Price inflation (CPI) 2.02% 2.41% 

The main demographic assumption used relates to the mortality assumptions. These assumptions have 

been updated for the 31 March 2018 accounting position, based on the updated analysis of the  
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29.  Pension (continued) 

Scheme’s experience carried out as part of the 2017 actuarial valuation.  The mortality assumptions 

used in these figures are as follows: 

31 March 2018: 

Pre-retirement: 71% of AMC00 (duration 0) for males and 112% of AFC00 (duration 0) for females. 

Post retirement: 96.5% of SAPS S1NMA “light” for males and 101.3% of RFV00 for females. 

Future improvements to mortality: 

CMI_2016 with a smoothing parameter of 8.5 and a long-term improvement rate of 1.8% pa for males 

and 1.6% p.a. for females 

31 March 2017: 

Pre-retirement: 98% of SAPS S1NA “light” YOB unadjusted for males.   

Post retirement: 99% of SAPS S1NA “light” YOB with a -1 year adjustment for females. 

Future improvements to mortality: 

CMI_2014 with a long-term rate of 1.5% p.a. 

The current life expectancies on retirement at the age of 65 are: 

 31 March 2018  31 March 2017 

Males currently aged 65 (years) 24.5 24.4 
Females currently aged 65 (years) 26.0 26.6 
Males currently aged 45 (years) 26.5 26.5 
Females currently aged 45 (years) 27.8 29.0 

 

The summary of the Scheme’s financial position is: 

 31 March 2018  31 March 2017 

Existing benefits   
Scheme assets £63.6bn £60.0bn 
Total scheme liabilities  £72.0bn £77.5bn 
FRS 102 total scheme deficit  £8.4bn £17.5bn 
FRS 102 funding level 88% 77% 

Civil Service pensions 

Pension benefits, for a small number of employees who transferred from HEFCE, are provided through 

the Civil Service pension arrangements.  Members may be in one of four defined benefit schemes; either 

a final salary scheme (classic, classic premium or classic plus); or a whole career scheme (nuvos). The 

statutory arrangements are unfunded with the cost of benefits met by monies voted by parliaments each 

year.  Pension’s payable under the classic, classic premium, classic plus and nuvos are increased 

annually in line with pensions increase legislation.   Employee contributions are salary-related and range 

between 1.5% and 5.9% of pensionable earnings. The rate for employers contributions range between  
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29.  Pension (continued) 

18.8% and 21.8%, and is charged directly to the SOFA. Increases to employee contributions applied 

from April 2013.   

Group and company contributions to this scheme in 2018 totalled £66k (2017: £69k).  

 

Defined contribution  

There is a defined contribution scheme operating within the group for a small number of employees who 

transferred from Janet. At the balance sheet date there were 3 active members. Contributions within the 

company amounted to £21k (2017: £24k) and group contributions were £28k in the year and (2017: 

£39k). Contributions are charged to the SOFA as incurred.  This includes an amount of £3k (2017: £3k), 

outstanding at the balance sheet date. No amount of these defined contribution plans, or the costs of the 

persons holding them, are funded through restricted funds. Therefore all costs and liabilities associated 

with these plans are classified as unrestricted. 

30. Taxation 

As a registered charity, Jisc is entitled to certain tax exemptions on income and profits from investments 

and surpluses on any trading activities carried out in the furtherance of its primary objectives. 

Neither the group nor charitable company had any deferred tax assets or liabilities (2017: nil).  

31. Results of the charity 

 Unrestricted 
fund 

£’000 

Restricted 
fund 

£’000 

Total  
2018 

£’000 

 Total 
2017 
£’000 

 
Total incoming resources 

 
66,785 23,551 90,336 

  
91,464 

 
Net surplus/(deficit) 3,018 3,829 6,847 

  
(1,611) 
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32.    Grants Paid  

Grants paid to third parties:  

 

* Amounts paid to the University of Edinburgh are in relation to EDINA. 

33. Contingent Assets and Liabilities 

The group has contingent liabilities of £nil (2017: £nil) in relation to grant commitments and £nil (2017: 

nil) in respect of restructuring liabilities.  

The group had contingent assets of £nil (2017: £nil) in relation to capital grants. Grants are recognised 

when the likelihood of receipt is probable, and all performance-related conditions have been met and the 

amount can be measured reliably. 

As Jisc makes both taxable and exempt supplies with respect to VAT, it applies a partial exemption 

special method to determine the amount of VAT which can be recovered on its inputs.  Jisc are currently 

in discussions with HMRC over the historic amounts of VAT which are recoverable.  Based on the advice 

of their professional advisors, the directors consider that it is not probable that any further liability to VAT 

will arise when these discussions are concluded, but if a further liability to VAT does arise in respect of 

previous periods, it is not currently possible to quantify any potential liability until an approach has been 

agreed with HMRC.   

 
Digital Futures Digital resources Jisc 

Technologies 
 

 
Capital & 
projects 

Recurrent Capital & 
projects 

Recurrent Recurrent TOTAL 

 
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

University of Edinburgh* 
                  

50  
                   

-    
                  

12  
            

1,353  
              -     

         
1,415  

British Universities Film 
& Video Council 

                   -    
                   

-    
                   

-    
            

317  
                -    

            
317  

Digital preservation 
coalition 

                  
30  

                   
-    

                   
-    

                     
-    

              -     
              

30  

Higher Education 
Statistics Agency Ltd 

                   -    
                   

-    
                   

-    
            

1,000  
               -    

        
1,000  

Open Preservation 
Foundation 

                  
30  

                   
-    

                   
-    

                    
-    

             -    
              

30  

Shibboleth Consortium                    -    
                   

-    
                   

-    
                    

-    
                 62    

              
62  

The British Academy                    -    
                   

-    
                  

30  
                     

-    
                -    

              
30  

University of Bradford                   -  
                  

34    
                   

-    
                    

-    
-    

              
34  

Other grants (< £30k) 
                

108  
                  

23  
                  

38  
                 

(8)  
-  

            
161  

       

Total grants paid                 
218  

                 
57  

                 
80  

             
2,662  

                  
62  

        
3,079  
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34. Post balance Sheet Event 

On 28 November 2018 the board passed the necessary resolutions to enable the merger with Eduserv to 

go ahead with an effective date of 1 January 2019.  Further details are provided in the Strategic Report 

on page 11 of this Trustees’ Report and Financial Statements. For the year to 31 July 2017 (the latest 

published results), Eduserv generated a net operating surplus of £453k from total income of £15,027k on 

a consolidated basis.  Eduserv’s total funds at 31 July 2017 were £5,926k. 

 

 


